
'([be Cleommontuealtb of Jma��acbu�ett� 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

NOTICE OF MEETING and AGENDA 

October 30, 2012 Meeting 

Pursuant to the Massachusetts Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-25, notice is hereby given of a 

meeting of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission. The meeting will take place: 

PUBLIC MEETING - #33 

1. Call to order 

2. Approval of minutes 

Tuesday, October 30,2012 
1:00 p.m. 

Division of Insurance 

1000 Washington Street 
1st Floor, Meeting Room l-E 

Boston, Massachusetts 

a. October 16, 2012 Meeting 
b. October 23, 2012 Meeting 

3. Project Work Plan 
a. Consultant status report 

i. October 29th Meeting 
ii. RFA-2 Process 

iii. Discussion of policy priorities 
b. Status of new ethics standards 

4. Administration 
a. Personnel searches 
b. Report from Director of Administration 
c. Employee Manual- Chapter 2 

5. Racing Division 
a. Report from Director of Racing Division 

6. Public Education and Information 
a. Community and/or Developer outreach/responses to requests for information 

i. Requests from regional groups 
b. Training 

i. Discussion of Massachusetts Community Colleges' Casino Training Institute Proposal 
ii. Discussion of commission's role in certification of training schools 



7. Research Agenda 

a. Status report- Advisory Group 

8. Internet Gaming 

9. Other business- reserved for matters the Chair did not reasonably anticipate at the time of posting 

I certifY that on this date, this Notice was posted as "Gaming Commission Meeting" at www.mass.gov/gaming/rneetings, and 

ernailed to: regs@sec.state.ma.us, melissa.andrade@state.ma.us, brian.gosselin@state.rna.us. 

I() .l"/1•11 
(date) 

Date Posted to Website: October 26, 2012 at 1:00 p.m. 



Date: 

Time: 

Place: 

Present: 

mbe QCommonwealtb of ;!ffila��atbu�ett� 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

October 16, 2012 

1:00 p.m. 

Division of Insurance 
1000 Washington Street 

Meeting Minutes 

1st Floor, Meeting Room 1-E 
Boston, Massachusetts 

Commissioner Stephen P. Crosby, Chairman 
Commissioner Gayle Cameron 
Commissioner James F. McHugh 
Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 
Commissioner Enrique Zuniga 

Absent: None 

Call to Order: 

Chairman Crosby opened the 31st public meeting. 

Approval of Minutes: 

See transcript page 4. 

Chairman Crosby stated that the October 9, 2012, minutes have not been reviewed so a vote will 
be taken at the next meeting. 

Project Work Plan: 

See transcript pages 4-66. 

Consultant Status Report- The Commission's gaming consultants, represented by Guy Michael, 
Steve Ingis, and Bob Carroll, were present to provide an update of the progress made over the 
past week. Mr. Carroll stated that considerable time was spent supplementing and refining the 
strategic plan and that supplementation resulted in a second draft, which was delivered to the 
Commission yesterday. The primary changes contained in the second draft came in response to 
the Commission's questions regarding the first draft. Mr. Carroll stated that, among other things, 
the consultants researched and conferred about best practices regarding the scope of licensing 
and qualifier identification processes, which he anticipates will be moving forward soon. The 
consultants now are researching, identifying, and discussing various policy issues the 
Commission will need to address in order to move forward with the regulation drafting process 
for Phase 2. 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes October 16,2012 

Commissioner Zuniga stated that the Commission should consider issuing the RF A for the 
Category 2 slots parlor first to comply with the statute and then issue the RF A for the Category 1 
licenses several days later. Commissioner McHugh stated that if the RF A-2 for the slots parlor 
were issued first, the Commission would be fully compliant with the statutory command. He 
recommended issuing the RF A -1 to everyone on Wednesday, October 1 7, as scheduled and then 
think about issuing the substantive RF A-2 for the slots parlor license before issuing the RF A-2 
for casinos. Chairman Crosby stated that he did not believe the intention of the Legislature was 
to slow down the progress of casino licensing in order to expedite the slot parlor process. 
Commissioner Cameron stated that the interested parties will complete the forms quickly and it 
will be up to the Commission to decide where it wants to focus investigative resources. She 
stated that the slots license could be focused on first and she does not anticipate someone not 
being prepared for the background investigation phase. 

Commissioner McHugh suggested issuing the RF A-1 for the slots parlor on October 17 as 
scheduled and issuing the RF A-1 for casinos a few days later. Mr. Michael stated that he agrees 
with Commissioner McHugh in terms of a sequential issuance. Chairman Crosby stated that 
issuing the Category 2 RF A-1 on October 17 and the Category 1 RF A-1 on October 19 would 
accomplish technical compliance with the statute and leave open the question of how resources 
are allocated thereafter. 

Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the Commission issue an RFA-I for Category 2 
slots parlor on Wednesday, October I7, 2012, and that the Commission thereafter issue an RF A
I for the Class I casinos on Friday, October I9, 20I2. Motion seconded by Commissioner 
Cameron. The motion passed by a 4-I-0 vote. (Commissioner Stebbins opposed). 

Chairman Crosby stated that he would like to discuss convening a group meeting for everybody 

who is thinking about filing an RFA-1. This meeting would consist of a common presentation 
about the process and a question and answer session. After that meeting, the process of 
scheduling individual meeting with applicants can begin. Mr. Carroll stated that a specific date 
has not been set for the initial meeting but the consultants are prepared to conduct the general 
meeting on a date the Commission chooses. Mr. lngis stated that October 29 had been discussed 
as a potential date for that meeting. Mr. Carroll stated that he recommends the subsequent 
individual meetings be preceded by submission of the potential applicant's table of organization 
and that of its affiliated entities so that a meaningful discussion can take place. 

Chairman Crosby asked if the group meeting should be an open public meeting so more than one 
Commissioner can attend. Mr. Carroll stated that he sees no problem with that, as no specific 
applicant information will be discussed. The Commission decided to hold the group meeting on 
the morning of Monday, October 29, and that the meeting will be an open public meeting. 
Applicants should let Commission know if they would like to have an individual meeting with 
the consultants to discuss the qualifier process as it applies to their specific organization, and the 
Commission will schedule a meeting for that purpose. 

Commissioner McHugh asked if it is contemplated that the individual meetings will be between 
the consultants and the applicant. Mr. Michael stated that that at least one Commissioner may 

Page 2 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes October 16, 2012 

want to be present at these meetings. Commissioner McHugh recommended the Commission 
formally authorize the consultants to define the scope of licensing for the individual applicant at 
those meetings, with the understanding that any disagreements or differences will be brought 
before the full Commission for approval. Commissioner Zuniga stated that he agrees with 
empowering the consultants, but would like to see representation from the Commission at those 
meetings, perhaps in the form of one Commissioner. Mr. Ingis stated that in his past experience 
Commissioners have not been present in the one-on-one meetings. Commissioner Stebbins 
asked if it was appropriate to have legal staff participate and the consultants agreed it would be. 
Mr. Carroll advised that staff be present rather than Commissioners. 

Motion made by Commissioner McHugh that the Commission delegate the firm of Michael and 
Carroll and the firm of Spectrum, acting together, to conduct a meeting on a date to be selected 

for all interested applicants to discuss the general scope of the licensing process, and that, 
thereafter, in the fashion they elect, the consultants conduct meetings with interested parties with 
respect to individual scope of licensing issues, subject to an appeal to the Commission, in 
accordance with the Commission's now existing regulations, of any areas, questions or issues, as 
to which there is a disagreement between the interested party and the consultants. Seconded by 
Commissioner Stebbins. The motion passed unanimously by a 5-0-0 vote. 

Commissioner McHugh stated that a notice can be posted to the public on Wednesday that the 
Commission is issuing the RFA-1 and accepting RFA-1 applications from those interested in a 
Category 2 license. On Friday, a notice can be posted stating the Commission is issuing an 
RF A-1 and accepting applications for Category 1 licenses. 

PMA Timeline Update - Scott Libby and Angel Arvelo of PMA Consultants addressed the 
Commission. Mr. Arvelo stated that they are still working toward a February, 2014, date for 
issuing the Category 2 license. He stated that they have been working with Commissioner 
Zuniga and Director Glovsky, and with several of the gaming consultants, to review the critical 
path to licensing, especially Category 2 licensing, to see if they can reach a date earlier than 
February, 2014. 

He stated that recent achievements include the hiring of a racing director and initiation of the 
process of the public procurement of investigation services. Some of the milestones scheduled 
for the next several weeks are delivery of the strategic plan, publication of the RF A process for 
the Phase 1 applications, and determination of the scope of licensing for investigations for Phase 
1 applications. Other items include development of the RF A for the research agenda, hiring of 
the ombudsman, convening the gaming policy advisory committee, continuation of the 
procurement process for investigation services, interviews of applicants for the general counsel 
and executive director positions, and drafting necessary MOUs. 

Commissioner McHugh recommended looking at the timeline to see what deadlines are coming 
and to think about critical areas where timelines can be collapsed. Chairman Crosby stated that 
PMA is building this timeline and training Commission staff on how to use it so that the 
Commission can manage it in the future. Chairman Crosby stated that it would be important to 

Page 3 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes October 16,2012 

include space needs in the timeline, as the Commission is outgrowing its current space. 
Commissioner Cameron recommended including the IEB hiring process on the timeline. 

A brief recess was taken. 

Chairman Crosby reconvened the 31st meeting. 

Chairman Crosby stated that the Commission is required to submit an annual report to the 
Legislature, and Commissioner McHugh has prepared a draft report. Commissioner Zuniga 
stated that he can provide information relative to financial expenditures for this report. 
Commissioner Stebbins recommended including information on the three-site meeting that was 
held on the regulations and the fact that two Commission meetings have been held outside of the 
Boston area. He stated that he would make some revisions to the draft report and send them to 
Chairman Crosby. 

Administration: 

See transcript pages 66-67. 

Personnel Searches - Commissioner Zuniga stated that a temporary generalist position has been 
posted. Chairman Crosby stated that searches are ongoing for the Executive Director, Director 
of Investigations and Enforcement, General Counsel, Staff Counsel, fellowship attorney, two 
racing employees, and executive assistants. 

Finance/Budget: 

See transcript pages 67-95. 

Budget Update - Commissioner Zuniga stated that he has submitted a summary report of first 
quarter expenditures on a cash basis. He stated that some recent expenses are not included as 
they have been incurred but not paid. He submitted a summary report for line items, which are 
tracking as expected, with the exception of the salary line item, which is lower than expected due 
to the fact that some positions have not yet been filled. He stated that investigative services are 
not reflected in this budget, as the expense will be borne entirely by the applicants, nor are 
expenses regarding the research agenda. 

Commissioner Zuniga stated that he has submitted a summary memo relative to extension of the 
contract with the gaming consultants. He stated that he has reached a tentative agreement with 
the consultants to extend their contracts. This extension would include a slight increase in the 
lump sum monthly fee they have been receiving. The increase recognizes that more effort on the 
consultants' part will be required for the RFA-2 process than was required for the RFA-1 
process. The extension will be for the remainder of the fiscal year, which ends on June 30, 2013. 

Motion made by Commissioner Zuniga to ratify the tentative agreement with the gaming 
consultants to extend the contract for the amount and terms outlined in the memoranda included 

Page 4 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes October 16, 2012 

as part of the meeting packet. Motion seconded by Commissioner Stebbins. The motion passed 
unanimously by a 5-0-0 vote. 

Commissioner Zuniga stated that the Commission is going to have to interpret the language the 
legislation that allows the Commission to assess costs to its licensees in proportion to the number 
of gaming positions each utilizes. He stated that the assessment of costs in proportion to gaming 
positions is simple and straightforward after a license holder' s gaming establishment is up and 
running. If the Commission must wait to make an assessment until that point, however, it may 
face a funding problem. If the Commission has the ability to base its assessment on projected 
positions, then there is not likely to be a funding problem. After a brief discussion, the 
Commission decided that the assessment provisions of the statute, and their possible 
interpretations, deserved careful analysis so that financial planning can proceed on a sound 
footing. 

Commissioner Zuniga stated that, at a prior meeting, he was given the authority to negotiate a 
sole service contract with the consultants for the purpose of conducting the RF A-1 
investigations. In reviewing the timetable, however, he determined there is sufficient time to 
conduct a competitive procurement and, therefore, an RFR for investigative services has been 
posted. Commissioner Crosby suggested that, because of the Commission's prior authorization of 
a soul-source contract, it would be worthwhile for the Commission as a whole to ratify the 
changed course. In the discussion that followed, Commissioner, Commissioners Cameron and 
McHugh and Chairman Crosby explained their reasons for believing that the changed course was 
appropriate. 

Motion made by Commissioner Zuniga to ratify his issuance of an RFR for competitive 
procurement of RFA-1 investigative services. Motion seconded by Commissioner Stebbins. The 
motion passed unanimously by a 5-0-0 vote. 

Procurement Update - Commissioner Zuniga stated that the stenographic services RFR was 
issued and responses are due on October 26. 

Commissioner Zuniga stated that three responses have been received for financial advisory 
services. Chairman Crosby stated that the Commission made a tentative decision at an earlier 
meeting that it was worthwhile to try to increase competition for gaming licenses by engaging a 
financial advisor who could help the Commission interest investors in financing applicants for a 
Massachusetts gaming license. He stated that in considering the issue further, the general 
consensus is that the best way for the Commission to encourage financing is to have a clear, 
understandable, predictable, reliable, and stable licensing and regulation process which is above 
reproach, and if that kind of an environment is created the investors will be there. As a 
consequence and after looking at the amount of money it would cost to engage financial advisor, 
he concluded that the likely yield were not exceed the likely costs. Commissioner Zuniga stated 
that he originally thought that there would be a great deal of value engaging and advisor and 
talking to venture capitalists and other investors but now was no longer convinced that doing so 
would add value to the Commission's efforts. Commissioners McHugh, Cameron and Stebbins 
were in agreement not to proceed with engaging a financial consultant for purposes of 

Page 5 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes October 16, 2012 

approaching the financial markets, at least at this time. Chairman Crosby emphasized, however, 
that no one has a lock on any license in any category in any part of the Commonwealth and that 
the Commission remains anxious to support vigorous competition for all licenses in all areas. 

Racing Operations Update- Commissioner Cameron stated that the kennel owners had brought 
an issue to her for consideration. The issue arose out of a difference of opinion between the 
owners and the Division of Public Licensure regarding interpretation of a provision of the 
expanded gaming legislation. She stated that because this was a legal matter, she requested Nina 
Pickering-Cook of Anderson and Kreiger assist in an informal meeting in which each of the 
parties laid out their concerns. The kennel owners main concern had to do with unclaimed 
winning tickets, which are commonly referred to as "outs" monies. The outs in question covered 
unclaimed winnings from 2008 and 2009. The issue arose because the expanded gaming 
legislation enacted in November, 2011, changed the manner in which the outs were to be 
handled. She stated that, after hearing the kennel owners' arguments and discussing the issue 
with Attorney Pickering-Cook, she determined the 2008 monies were due to the kennel owners 
because the new legislation did not affect the unclaimed monies from that year. The new law did 
affect the 2009 monies, however, and they were properly placed into the racing stabilization 
fund. She recommended, therefore, that the Commission approve payment to kennel owners for 
the 2008 outs monies. 

Commissioner Cameron stated that another issue raised by the kennel owners concerned 
simulcast monies that are paid into the racing stabilization fund. The kennel owners believe that 
both Suffolk and Plainridge should be paying into that fund because they simulcast greyhound 
racing at those facilities. In looking into this matter, she found the law does not speak to the 
monies going into that account so the representatives have been advised this issue would have to 
be taken up with the tracks themselves. 

Commissioner Cameron concluded by stating that John O'Donnell, the spokesperson for the 
kennel owners, has been verbally advised of her findings and recommendation and has informed 
her that kennel owners are willing to accept her decision as a final resolution of the "outs" issue. 

Motion made by Commissioner Cameron to pay the kennel owners the 2008 "outs" monies after 
the individual owners sign an agreement stating that they are prepared to accept the payment in 
a full resolution of their claim for 2008 and 2009 "outs" monies. Motion seconded by 
Commissioner McHugh. The motion passed unanimously by a 5-0-0 vote. 

A brief recess was taken. 

Chairman Crosby reconvened the 31st meeting. 

Commissioner Cameron stated that public hearings and would be conducted on the applications 
of Suffolk Downs and Plainridge for 2013 racing licenses. A hearing in Plainville will be held at 
10:00 a.m. on Thursday, October 18, and at 2:00 p.m. on the same day in Boston for Suffolk 
Downs. The Racing Division monthly meeting will be held the same day at 3:00 p.m. 

Page 6 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes October 16, 2012 

Commissioner Cameron stated that the simulcasting and pari-mutuel wagering regulations have 
to be reviewed, with regulations submitted to the Legislature by January 1, 2013. She stated that 
David Murray, former General Counsel at Consumer Affairs, who is now a consultant, has 
offered to assist the Commission with this project. A background check has been conducted and 
he will start this project on October 22. 

Motion made by Commissioner Cameron that Mr. David Murray assist the Commission for a 
two-month consulting project in which all of the simulcasting and pari-mutuel wagering 
regulations laws will be examined, researched, and recommendations made to the full 
Commission as to the progress of the project. Motion seconded by Commissioner Zuniga. The 
motion passed unanimously by a 5-0-0 vote. 

Commissioner Cameron stated that the Commission had discussed hiring a paralegal primarily to 
assist with racing matters and she has chosen Danielle Holmes, who graduated from Albany Law 
School and has an extensive racing background. A background check has been conducted and 
she also is able to start employment with the Commission on October 22. 

Public Education and Information: 

See transcript pages 108-193. 

Community and/or Developer Outreach/Responses to Requests for Information- Commissioner 
Stebbins stated that the Commission received a letter from the Charlton Board of Selectmen and 
he drafted a response for review. He stated that it is important for the Commission to remind 
communities, whether they are a host community or surrounding community, that, as they go 
through the process of assessing potential impacts of a gaming establishment, it helps to reach 
out as widely as possible to all segments of the community, town boards and commissions and to 
urge them all to think as broadly as possible about impacts a gaming facility might have so that 
all possible impacts can be discussed with potential developers at an appropriate time. 

Ombudsman - Chairman Crosby introduced John Ziemba as his selection for the position of 
Commission Ombudsman. Mr. Ziemba addressed the Commission. He stated that he has worked 
in various state positions for sixteen years. He provided information on his background and his 
qualifications for this position and answered questions posed by the Commissioners. Discussion 
was held on the importance of this role and on the Commission's priorities for this position. 

Motion made by Commissioner Zuniga that the Commission hire John Ziemba as its 
Ombudsman. Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron. The motion passed unanimously by 
a 5-0-0 vote. 

Host and Surrounding Community Reimbursement - Commissioner Zuniga stated that he 
reviewed the transcript and minutes from the Commission's discussion of reimbursement for 
host and surrounding communities. He prepared a memorandum describing the process for 
obtaining reimbursement and has revised that memorandum in response to concerns raised by 
Commissioners at the meeting where the original memorandum was first discussed. He asked for 

Page 7 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes October 16, 2012 

feedback regarding the revision. Commissioner McHugh asked if the language in paragraph 1 E 
could be tweaked to clarify the 50% reimbursement figure that paragraph referenced. 
Commissioner Zuniga stated that the process described in the paragraph was based on a retainage 
method used by the construction industry. Chairman Crosby stated that this provides cash
strapped town with a mechanism to keep ahead on the cash flow. Commissioner Zuniga stated 
that he would adjust the language to make the principle a little clearer and would present the 
revised memorandum for final approval in the near future. 

Chairman Crosby stated that the Bureau of Indian Affairs disapproved the compact with the 
Mashpee Wampanoag tribe the Governor and the Legislature had negotiated and approved. The 
compact will now go back to the Governor and the Tribe for renegotiation, which will be done as 
soon as possible. It will then have to be approved by the Legislature again and the Commission, 
at least for now, will continue to watch as the process proceeds. 

A brief recess was taken. 

Chairman Crosby reconvened the 31st meeting. 

Massachusetts Performing Arts Center Coalition Presentation - Troy Siebels, the Executive 
Director of the Hanover Theater in Worcester and Chair of the Massachusetts Performing Arts 
Center Coalition addressed the Commission. Present with him were Tina D' Agostino from City 
Stage in Symphony Hall in Springfield and Vincent Longo, Chief Operating Officer for South 
Shore Playhouse Associations, Inc. d/b/a Cape Cod Melody Tent and South Shore Music Circus. 

Mr. Siebels stated that the Legislature made some provisions in the expanded gaming legislation 
to help mitigate negative repercussions gaming establishments might have on non-profit 
performing arts venues in Massachusetts. He stated that as the licensing process moves forward 
there are some issues on which they seek the Commission's support. He stated that their primary 
concern centers on their ability to obtain performers for their venues. The concern arises from the 
frequent use of "radius clauses" in contracts between casinos and premier performers whom the 
casinos book to appear at their facilities. In return for a premium the casinos pay to the 
performer, the clauses prohibit him or her from performing at any other entertainment venue 
within a certain radius for certain time. He then highlighted sections of the legislation that were 
included to protect the existing non-profit venues. 

Mr. Siebels stated that casinos are required to submit with their application a signed letter of 
agreement with impacted live entertainment venues. He asked that the Commission recognize as 
"impacted" all non-profit and municipal venues in Massachusetts that have a seating capacity of 
between 1,000 to 3,500 persons and that present touring entertainment. He also asked that the 
Commission prevent casinos from staging any performances in an existing venue unless they did 
so in a partnership that would help to protect the viability of the existing non-profit venues 
throughout the Commonwealth. 

An extensive discussion was held and the Commission stated that its role would be to uphold the 
legislation. The role of the Coalition would be to work out a letter of agreement with the 

Page 8 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission Minutes October 16, 2012 

developers that has teeth and bring it to the Commission for approval, typically in the context of 
the developer' s license application. Chairman Crosby stated that the Coalition is before the 
Commission today expressing its side, but there will be two sides to the situation and both sides 
will be heard at the appropriate time. 

Report from Director of Communications and Outreach - Director Driscoll stated that a decision 
has to be made regarding which logo the Commission would like to use. She stated that based 
on the four logos presented last week, two concepts were chosen which Jackrabbit modified 
based on the Commission's feedback. Ms. Driscoll stated that that Jackrabbit stressed it was 
important not to morph things to the point where the integrity of the original concept is 
compromised. She reviewed the proposed concepts with the Commission and feedback was 
provided. The majority of the Commissioners preferred the seal style logo, but were not 
completely in favor of the content. Ms. Driscoll stated that she would provide that information 
to Jackrabbit and ask them to keep working. Chairman Crosby stated that they could also 
present additional concepts. 

Ms. Driscoll stated that substantial progress has been made on the design of the new website and 
she provided the Commission with a brief overview. 

Research Agenda: 

See transcript pages 193-198. 

Status Report- Chairman Crosby stated that six responses were submitted for the Research RFI. 
Three responses were from Spectrum, NCRG, and Clyde Barrow, who took the position that you 
cannot do this kind of research well because there is no recognized methodology for doing it. He 
stated that Harvard and U. Mass Amherst were very excited and consider this is an incredible 
opportunity. He stated that the Commission is putting together an advisory group to assist in 
making a recommendation. Commissioner Zuniga asked if consideration should be given to 
hiring someone, such as a Ph.D. candidate, on a contract basis to manage this initial effort. 
Commissioner McHugh recommended distributing the submitted information to all the 
Commissioners so everyone can look at it and perhaps make recommendations. 

Motion made to adjourn, motion seconded and carried unanimously. 

List of Documents and Other Items Used at the Meeting 

1. Massachusetts Gaming Commission October 16, 2012 Notice of Meeting & Agenda 

Page 9 

lsi James F. McHugh 
James F. McHugh 
Secretary 



The Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Meeting Minutes 

Date: October 23, 2012 

Time: 1 :00 p.m. 

Place: Division of Insurance 
1000 Washington Street 
1st Floor, Meeting Room 1-E 
Boston, Massachusetts 

Present: Commissioner James F. McHugh 
Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 
Commissioner Enrique Zuniga 

Absent: Commissioner Stephen P. Crosby, Chairman 
Commissioner Gayle Cameron 

Call to Order: 

Commissioner McHugh opened the 32nd public meeting. He stated that Chairman Crosby and 
Commissioner Cameron are on business travel and will not be in attendance at today's meeting. 

Approval of Minutes: 

See transcript pages 2-3. 

Commissioner McHugh stated that he has distributed the October 9 minutes and would welcome 
any comments. Commissioner Stebbins observed that the community colleges will be presenting 
their final plan to the Commission in November, not February as the draft minutes read. 

Motion made by Commissioner McHugh to approve the October 9, 2012 minutes with the 
correction noted by Commissioner Stebbins. Motion seconded by Commissioner Stebbins. The 
motion passed by a 3-0-0 vote. 

Commissioner McHugh stated that the October 16 meeting was lengthy and the minutes have not 
been finalized so they will be presented at the next Commission meeting. 

Project Work Plan: 

See transcript pages 3-44. 

Page 1 



Consultant Status Report/Director of Administration Report - Director Glovsky addressed the 
Commission. She stated that she spoke with the gaming consultants today and received an 
update from them. In addition to their meeting with the Commission last week, they conducted 
meetings the following day with Commission members to identify and prioritize policy 
determinations that are preconditions to drafting Phase 2 regulations. They have worked on 
developing a schedule and sequence for making policy decisions. They continue to work on 
identifying and evaluating potential candidates for open staff positions. Commissioner Stebbins 
met with the consultants to discuss certifying curricula for gaming education and the most 
appropriate approach to the certification process. The consultants also have been involved in 
scheduling and providing support for the October 29 Scope of Licensing Meeting with the 
applicants, and the individual meetings that are expected to take place after that 
meeting. Finally, they have begun to respond to questions and comments from the Commission 
about the revised draft strategic plan, which was delivered on October 15. 

Commissioner McHugh asked if the consultants consider the current draft of the strategic plan to 
be the final draft, or whether they anticipate further comments from the Commission. 
Commissioner Zuniga stated that he is not certain. Commissioner McHugh suggested that some 
of the policy issues being discussed today should be incorporated in the plan, as well as in 
adjustments to the project timelines. Director Glovsky stated that, when "finalized," the strategic 
plan will become a living document. The Commission will approve it at some point and 
thereafter use it as a basis for continuing its work going forward. Director Glovsky stated that 
the consultants are also developing a work plan, which is a document in spreadsheet format that 
takes specifics steps describe in the plan and assigns staff to them. The consultants will take a 
first pass on assigning the Commissioners they think will be working in each area. She stated 
that this process will allow each Commissioner to look at the tasks that need to be accomplished, 
know the tasks for which they are responsible and understand who is handling the 
others. Commissioner McHugh asked how the spreadsheet would link to the plan PMA is 
maintaining. Director Glovsky replied that both were iterative and that determining the precise 
way to connect them remained a work in progress. 

Director Glovsky stated that there are several RFRs in process, one for stenographic services, 
one for investigative services, and one for a temporary to permanent position for someone to do 
research on document management software. She stated that that a posting has been created for 
a senior business operations specialist who will work under her direction and can handle some of 
the accounting and information technology work that has to be done. 

Commissioner McHugh asked how the Commission's yet unarticulated document management 
policies fit into the process of procuring the document management software. Director Glovsky 
stated that she has had initial conversations with vendors and most of the systems available are 
all encompassing. Commissioner McHugh stated that he envisions a system that can be coded to 
deal with the document retention policies of the Secretary of State, aid in responding to Freedom 
of Information requests, and otherwise simplify the search and retrieval process for all 
documents in the Commission's possession. Director Glovsky stated that those requirements 
would be in the procurement, along with any other specifications the Commission 
desired. Commissioner Zuniga stated that as part of the procurement the Commission needs to 
think through how to go about cataloging each document so the software can help retrieve it 

Page 2 



later. Commissioner McHugh agreed in general, but observed that onerous or complex coding 
requirements would mean that the coding system would be ignored and the primary value of the 
software would be impaired, if not lost entirely. 

Preparation for October 29 Meeting - Commissioner McHugh stated that the October 29 Scope 
of Licensing Meeting will be held at the Sheraton Framingham Conference Center at 10:00 a.m. 
At that meeting, the gaming consultants will explain the general parameters of the Phase 1 
process, the criteria for determining those in the organizational hierarchy who must qualify, and 
the process the Investigations and Enforcement Bureau will follow during the qualification 
investigations. He stated that this meeting will be followed by three days of individual meetings 
between the consultants, individual applicants and those who are thinking about becoming 
applicants to go over specific questions they may have about their Phase 1 application. He asked 
that anyone planning on attending Monday' s meeting register through the Commission' s 
website. 

RFA-2 Process- Commissioner McHugh stated that the RFA-1 deadline is January 15 and the 
investigations of the qualifiers will continue until June, by which time the Commission will have 
decided who is qualified. While the Phase-1 process is proceeding, the Commission will be 
proceeding with preparations for that Phase-2 process. The Commission intends to make 
judgments about the policies that need to be in place to issue the Phase-2 regulations during the 
month of November, set the policies in place in early December, and being writing the 
regulations that will support those policies, with the goal of issuing the regulations by June. 

Formal Organization of the Investigation and Enforcement Bureau (IEB) - Commissioner 
McHugh stated that when the Phase 1 applications are filed, the Commission will ask the IEB to 
commence an investigation as to the qualifications of the applicants. He stated that a search for a 
Director of the IEB is now in progress and the bureau will be created when that person is 
hired. The State Police will supply a component of the IEB and, if necessary, could provide 
temporary support while the IEB is being created. 

Status of New Ethics Standards - Commissioner McHugh stated that the Commission is required 
by statute to create enhanced ethics standards that will apply to the Commission as well as the 
State Police and Alcoholic Beverages Control Commission personnel who work with the 
Commission. The Attorney General is required to create a separate enhanced ethics standard 
applicable to personnel in the Gaming Division her office creates. He stated that the Commission 
is currently in the process of working on these standards, which will be more stringent than the 
existing state ethics regulations. Commissioner Zuniga asked what the anticipated timeline 
would be. Commissioner McHugh stated that there is no firm timeline but he anticipates having 
them in place no later than the end of the year. Commissioner Stebbins recommended asking for 
public comments on the proposed ethics standards before they are finalized. 

Preliminary Discussion of Policy Priorities - Commissioner McHugh stated that a preliminary 
list of policies the Commission needs to consider has been prepared and distributed as part of 
today' s meeting packet. He stated that because the full Commission is not present, there will be 
no substantive discussion of those policies but a discussion of how to deal with prioritizing the 
policies would be helpful preparation for a meeting attended by all Commissioners next week. 

Page 3 



Commissioner Zuniga stated that he liked the idea of grouping the policy questions. Some of the 
policies will affect the communities and applicants and some are important from a strategic 
standpoint and should be discussed soon. As an example, he focused on Paragraph 15 in the 
distributed list, which deals with construction information an applicant is required to provide as 
part of its application. He stated that, while the information mentioned in that paragraph is 
useful, an equally important level of detail that should be considered involves whether the 
construction will involve preassembly of materials from other states, because the number of 
construction hours in Massachusetts versus another state can be an important consideration in 
determining the impact of the construction process on Massachusetts job creation. Commissioner 
McHugh asked how the Commission can approach the task of determining the information it 
should require applicants to provide in addition to the information the statute specifies. 
Commissioner Stebbins stated that he agrees with grouping the questions to move the process 
along. He stated that some of the expertise needed to determine desirable information beyond 
that mentioned in the statute could be obtained from the people from whom the Commission has 
heard at the public forums it has held. Commissioner McHugh stated that perhaps it would be a 
good idea to post the current list of questions on the Commission's website to allow comment 
from the public and applicants. Commissioner Stebbins stated that many of the questions on the 
list probably have been answered in other jurisdictions and the Commission should draw on the 
many offers of help that people in those jurisdictions have extended. 

Commissioner Zuniga recommended that, once the questions or issues on the list are placed in 
logical groups, the Commission should think about who should take the lead in gathering 
information relevant to the issues in each group. Following that theme, Commissioner McHugh 
stated that it would be ideal if a revised document containing groupings and priorities could be 
prepared so that at least part of the discussion at the next meeting could focus on assignment of 
responsibilities for information gathering. He recommended that Commissioners send 
suggestions for groupings and additional tasks to Director Glovsky and that she prepare a 
document for use at the next meeting based on those suggested additions and groupings. 
Commissioner McHugh also encouraged any member of the public who has thoughts about 
additional policy decisions that the Commission should soon make to send those suggestions to 
the Commission at the address for comments and questions posted on the Commission's website. 

Administration: 

See transcript page 44. 

Personnel Searches - Commissioner McHugh stated that four searches are being conducted, in 
addition to the searches Director Glovsky addressed earlier. These searches include the 
Executive Director, Director ofiEB, General Counsel, and fellowship attorney. All the searches 
are well underway and should be concluded the end of the year. 

Racing Division: 

See transcript pages 45-49. 

Page 4 



Report from Director of Racing Division- Director Durenberger addressed the 
Commission. She stated that she was in Kentucky last week attending a Welfare and Safety of 
the Racehorse Summit and will have a report to the Commission by the end of the week. She 
stated that she spent Monday at Suffolk Downs viewing operations of the former SRC staff. She 
will be visiting Plainridge on Thursday, as well as the Raynham facility. She stated that she is in 
the process of finalizing a date and time for the working group. She stated that David Murray, 
Esq. has signed on to assist with the review of the pari-mutel and simulcast laws, aided by 
Danielle Holmes, the new legal assistant. 

Public Education and Information: 

See transcript pages 49-53. 

Community and/or Developer Outreach/Responses to Requests for Information- Commissioner 
McHugh stated that the City of Chelsea had posed several questions to the Commission and 
revised draft answers are included in the meeting packet. One question addressed the Local 
Capital Projects Fund described in G.L. c. 23K, §59 and c. 29, § 2EEEE. The statues describe 
the money that goes into that fund, but there is no description of how money goes out or the 
nature of the projects the fund is designed to support. The Commission contacted the 
Comptroller's office to see if it had any information that might help to answer those questions 
but it does not. More work, therefore, must be done to determine how the money comes out of 
the fund and a legislative correction may have to be requested. The Commission was in 
agreement that the answers in the form included in today' s meeting packet may be delivered to 
Chelsea City Manager Jay Ash and posted as part of the frequently asked questions on the 
Commission's website. 

Requests from Regional Groups- Commissioner Stebbins stated that Chairman Crosby is going 
to prepare a response to the letter from the Springfield Convention and Visitors Bureau regarding 
its proposal for a standard MOU with applicants for gaming licenses. Commissioner McHugh 
stated that the formal response is in the Chairman's hands, but the policy underlying the question 
will be addressed as the Commission addresses the policy decisions discussed earlier. 

United Auto Workers Workplace Safety Presentation- Commissioner McHugh stated that a 
presentation was scheduled for today, but due to issues beyond their control the representatives 
could not attend today' s meeting so the presentation will be rescheduled. 

Research Agenda: 

See transcript pages 53-71. 

Status Report - Commissioner Zuniga stated that he would encourage all the Commissioners to 
read through the questions and responses the Commission received to the RFR issued for the 
Research Agenda. He stated that there are two broad themes within the responses. There is a 
realization that measuring social and economic impact of problem gambling is difficult. There is 
also an opportunity to do this research when it matters most, i.e., prior to the introduction of 

Page 5 



casinos. He stated that another common theme in the responses is the idea that all research 
should be peer reviewed and published in reputable science journals. 

Commissioner Zuniga stated that the Commission needs to think about the immediate next steps 
because a report is due to the legislature by the end of 2013. He stated that a decision should be 
made on whether to issue an RFP and, if so, what the focus of the RFP should be. Some of the 
responses recommend the Commission establish a research bureau which would become the 
repository for all of the Commission's research .. Commissioner Zuniga stated that the 
Commission could also consider entering into an ISA with the University of Massachusetts to 
conduct the research. 

Commissioner McHugh asked whether the Commission could identify 10 or 15 items that it 
wanted to track and did not involve value judgments or comorbidities and use those items as a 
starting point for research. Commissioner Zuniga stated that approach could be taken and some 
information would be readily available. He added, however, that general methods of surveying 
are more and more challenging due to technology and people not answering phone 
calls. Commissioner Stebbins asked if the scientific advisory panel would peer review the 
results or look at the methodologies by which the information is being evaluated and 
assessed. Commission Zuniga stated that the scientific advisory panel could do both but 
precisely what it will do is yet to be determined. Commissioner Stebbins stated that it is critical 
to have this conversation with the Department of Public Health since they will be in charge of 
the research fund. 

Commissioner Stebbins asked if the Commission should be looking at the Gaming Policy 
Advisory Committee and recommending to the appointing authorities the type of people it would 
like to have as members, such as someone with a background in research. Commissioner 
McHugh stated that he is concerned about establishing baselines before construction starts, 
because as construction starts the baselines the Commission desires to measure will inevitably 
change. 

Commissioner McHugh recommended continuing this discussion at the next Commission 
meeting when all the Commissioners will be available, with the goal of making a policy decision 
about which direction to go in order to move the research agenda forward. 

Motion made to adjourn, motion seconded and carried unanimously. 

List of Documents and Other Items Used at the Meeting 

1. Massachusetts Gaming Commission October 23, 2012 Notice of Meeting & Agenda 
2. October 9, 2012 Meeting Minutes of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
3. Potential Policy Issues for the Commission' s Resolution (Preliminary Draft) 
4. Questions from City of Chelsea and Proposed Answers 

Page 6 



Page 7 

Is/ James F. McHugh 
James F. McHugh 
Secretary 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission I I I --
Framework for Addressing Policy Questions I I ---1 I �- I -

I 
Family (Group) of Questions and/or Policies 

Responsible for Follow Advice / Input of Document/ Info Priority Level 
Proposed Answer I Determination 

Up others Needed Needed * 

_I I -
---t I 

Questions I Policies Necessary for Planning Purposes (for I ,_ 
Communities and/or Applicants) I 

1 J How will we define "surrounding communities" and should we 
--

[name - staff and/or [examples: A&K, � [examples: Studies, [example: 2] 

publish that definition early in the process? commissioner] !Consultants, RPA's] Mitigation Agreements] J ,_ 
2 Should the Commission issue guidelines for municipalities which may I be a surrounding community to more than one host community? 

I ,_ ;-- -
3 What criteria will we use to decide which "not-for-profit or I 

municipally-owned performance venues" are "impacted live 

i 
entertainment venues" within the statute's meaning. 

16 Should the Commission confirm through a formal policy that no host 

community agreements should be executed or referendums held 

before the relevant applicant has qualified through RFA-1? 

i -
17 Should the Commission specify the minimum required content for a I 

host community agreement? -
18 Should the Commission approve the wording of the summary 

I � 
required by G.L. c. 23K, § 15{13) before it is submitted to the public? - � 

31 Will the Commission promulgate additional ethics or reporting 

standards for applicants and/or related municipalities? --
37 Should the Commission set election criteria for a local referendum if l 

1-
I there are more than one project on the ballot? I ---

45 1 I 
I 
Should the commission require completion of the Phase 1 qualifying I investigation before permitting a host community vote? 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission I I I I 
Framework for Addressing Policy Questions I I I I -' I I I I 

Family (Group) of Questions and/or Policies 
Responsible for Follow Advke /Input of Document/ Info Priority level 

Proposed Answer I Determination LIP others Needed Needed * 

46 Should the commission prohibit gambling by local officials in casinos 
: j I -� located within their jurisdiction? j I 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Framework for Addressing Policy Questions 

I 

Family (Group) of Questions and/or Policies 

I 
II 

Strateg ic Considerations for the Commission (in anticipation of 

bidding out licenses) �ould the Commission make casino licensing decisions region-by-

gion or simultaneously for all regions? 
___ 

14 Should the Commission require that a developer use a specified 

I 
percentage of in-state or regional employees in the construction and 

operation of its facility? 

19 How will the Commission consider the strategic implications of when, 

I 
how and where to issue licenses, including the slots license, in the 

context of other license-issuing decision so as to maximize the 

benefits to the Commonwealth as a whole? 

Responsibl e for Follow 

Up 

L_ ----

I 
I 
I 
I 

21 Should the commission issue a regulation or policy statement dealing I 
with the portion of G.L. c. 23K, §§ 19(a), 20(a) providing that the 

Commission may not award a gaming license if it is not convinced that 

the applicant has "provided convincing evidence that [it] will provide 

value" to the region, in the case of a category 11icense, and to the 

Commonwealth, in the case of a category 2 license. 

-
32 Should the Commission set a time limit or other rules addressing the I �Tribal compact/land-ln-trust Issue In Region Cl - -

_j I 
Ill Policy Questions Relevant to the Contents of an Application 

1-
4 What, if any, information in addition to that specified in G.L. c. 23K, § 

I 9 should the Commission require Phase 2 applicants to provide as 

part of the Phase 2 application. 

i --- -

-
--

Advice / Input of Document/Info Priority Level 
Proposed Answer I Determination 

others Needed Needed * 

t- I - I I --

I - --i I 
I 

' 

l 
I - - --l - I i I I 

t --- -r- I I 

J- �-
- - --, 

I 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission I I 
+ 

I I --I� I Framework for Addressing Policy Questions I --

- I -
Responsible for Follow Advice /Input of Document/Info Priority Level 

Proposed Answer I Determination Family (Group) of Questions and/or Policies 
Up others Needed Needed * 

6 What criteria should the commission use to determine I 

I I I :whether a gaming license applicant should receive a gaming 
beverage license for the sale and distribution of alcoholic 
beverages and what application fee should the commission 
charge? --

9 Should the Commission increase the minimum license fee and/or I 
I 

capital investment requirements? Should the Commission encourage I I bidding on the license fee? If the amounts are modified, should they I I vary by region? --- - -

I 10 How should the Commission determine a suitable debt-to-equity ratio I 1 for applicants for a gaming license? l � 
11 Should the Commission allow a facility to open in stages, with I 

_l I 
the casino opening prior to the hotel and/or other facilities? 
If so, under what constraints? -I 

12 To what degree will an applicant be required to have progressed in 

I J I federal, state and local permitting and other regulatory process 

before submitting its RFA-2 application? -

I T i 
--

15 What degree of building design completion will be required before I the licensing selection? ': 1- j 23 What, if any, information and in addition to that described in G.L. c. 
-

23K, §31(b) should the Commission require from an applicant before 

issuing a gaming vendor license? -
36 If MOU's and other agreements may be part of an applicant's t I 

proposal to the commission to demonstrate their commitment to key I evaluation criteria, how should the commission weigh these i � 
agreements and enforce them in the coming years after the license is 

awarded? I --

I 38 As part of an applicant's goal to impact small businesses, what 

information should the commission require? 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission I -f I ! - I I Framework for Addressing Policy Questions i 
,_[ I I I ·-

Family (Group) of Questions and/or Policies 
Responsible for Follow Advice /Input of Document/Info Priority Level 

Proposed Answer I Determination 
Up others Needed Needed * 

44

1
What should the studies and reports required by G.L. c. 23K, §§ 9 (a) I ' I I (13), 18 (18) contain
_
?

_ I I I I I 
I I - -
IV 

Policy Questions Pertaining to the Evaluation of the Gaming Licensee I I I and their Proposals -
5 What, if any, criteria in addition to those listed in G.L. c. 23K, I I 

§§ 15, 18 should the Commission use in the RFA-2 licensing 
I 

determinations in order to ensure that the license awarded 
will provide the highest and best value to the Commonwealth 
in the region in which a gaming establishment is to be located I 
and how should all of those criteria be weighted, ranked or 

I I scored? �at k;nd of a team w;th what k;nds of skms and competendes does 
I I Procure Certain Services I 

I the Commission need to help it assess the Phase 2 proposals? 
I I I 

22 What, if any, conditions in addition to those prescribed in G.L. c. 23K, I I I 

§ 21, should the Commission prescribe for each gaming license? 

I I I - - - -
35 To expound on the point in question 5, should the Commission I 

formulate and communicate a scoring system prior to the receipt of 

proposals with the relative weight of different criteria? Should the 

Commission establish a minimum scoring for applicants? I I 
How much weight or consideration does the commission give to the 

� 
39 facility itself in meeting the goals of Sec. 5 55 3 related to building 

appeal and other factors? -- --
I 

I I I I I 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Framework for Addressing Policy Questions , I •---+------- -i I 1------.�.. __ I 
Family (Group) of Questions and/or Policies 

Policy Questions Pertaining to Operations I Regulations of Casinos 

V (may still need to be answered prior to awarding license) 

7 What regulations should the commission issue with respect 
to distribution of alcohol and the forms of identification that 

I may be presented to a gaming licensee to demonstrate proof 
that a person has attained the age of 21 1 

Responsible for Follow 

Up 

Advice I Input of 

others Needed 

Document/ Info 

Needed 

I 

Priority Level 
* Proposed Answer I Determination 

-

I I 
----------------------------------------�------------------------------�----------------+-----·----�------------------------- --

131 What criteria should the Commission use to prescribe the 
manner in which gaming licensees and gaming vendors must I 
keep their books and financial or other records and l 1 1 statements? I I 

1 25 1 When shou_ l_d_ t_h_e _ r_e_g _u-la- t-io_ n_ s_p_ e_ r_t_ a-in_ i _n _g _ t _o _o_p_e_r-at_ i _o _n _s _o_n_ t_h_e
� --------------��------ ---- --1---------- -------r--

l gaming floor be issued and what should those regulations 
I . 7 con tam. 

26 When should regulations regarding issuance of credit be 
issued and what should those regulations contain? I---I--+--

271When should regulations regarding check-cashing be issued 
:and what should those regulations contain? 

_ -l·-----
28 When should regulations regarding approval of promotional 

gaming credits be issued and what should those regulations 
contain? 1-

29 When should regulations regarding excluded persons be 

I -

!issued and what should those regulations contain? 
3DIWhen shocld r�clilio� r�arili� p-ro_v_ i_s-io_ n_ o_ f

----------� ----------------,�------------� --------------� 

1 complementary services, gifts, cash or other items of value be 1 I 

I issued and what should those regulations contain? 

I 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission I I I I . 

I 
I I 

- -

Framework for Addressing Policy Questions I I I I -_j_ I -

Family (Group) of Questions and/or Policies 
Responsible for Follow Advice /Input of Document/Info Priority Level 

Proposed Answer I Determination 
Up others Needed Needed * 

40 Should the commission prescribe the games, rules and controls a I I 

licensee may have or should it solicit proposals from the i applicants/licensees? I . -r 41l What process should the commission use/require for testing gaming 

equipment? See § 66. 
I 47'Should the commission adopt the self-exclusion lists in effect in other 

jurisdictions? (Se� §46(k)) I J . - --
48 What criteria should be used to exclude individuals involuntarily from ! ! I 

casinos? I -

_j 49 What regulations and standards should the commission prescribe for I the audits it is required to conduct? -I J I 

I I I I l 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

Framework for Addressing Policy Questions 

I I 
Famil y (Group) of Questions and/or Pol icies 

VI 
Other Issues and Questions. Pol icies rel evant to col l ateral 

regul atory issues and obl igations 
--. 

24 What information should the commission require in respect to 

• an applicant's "description of its minimum system of internal 

procedures and administrative and accounting controls for 

gaming and any simulcast wagering operations" required by G.L. 

- . c, )]K,_§ 25 (gJ. 
33 Should the community college process that we are endorsing 

and supporting be the exclusive mechanism for qualifying 

applicants for key gaming licenses? 

1 34: If the answer to question 33 is no, should the Commission 

regulate private training schools? 

42 What should be the length of the licenses issued to employees whom 

__J the statute requires to be licensed? 
. ... j 43 What non-gaming vendors should be excused from the Ucensing 

_ 

.
Pr�cess? 

_ 

\ -
Priority Level Code: 

- J I 

I j I ---

1 I 
t I -

-
Responsibl e for Fol l ow Advice / Input of Document/ Info Priority Level 

Proposed Answer I Determination 
Up others Needed Needed * 

i I I 
I I 

I I I 
-

' 
-+ ' ----

I ! -

I -- I - -
I 

I I I -
1 (Red) requires immediate action I 
2 (Yellow) needs attention -1 t ' 

3 (Green) may be addressed at later time I I No color: Issue has been resolved I adressed r I � 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

SECTION2. WORKPLACE POLICIES 

2.1. Dress Code 

The Commission has established an image of professionalism and wishes each of you to 
reinforce this image. Your attire has a direct impact on the image ofMGC. One of the key 
aspects of our image is personal appearance. Good grooming and appropriate attire are essential 
in establishing a good impression. Impressions are important in our relationships with our 
constituents, clients, visitors, and fellow employees. Because of this, MGC has instituted a dress 
code to provide a general guideline to establish what it considers appropriate and professional 
attire. MGC currently has a "business" standard of dress for employees. We ask that everyone 
cooperate and wear appropriate business attire. 

The guidelines are that you look neat and professional. Aside from complying with any safety 
regulations that may apply, we ask that you dress in a manner that is appropriate for your job and 
not distracting to other employees or visitors. Employees are expected to dress appropriately 
when notified that visitors to the premises are expected. Please remember that you are a 
representative ofMGC and we expect that you will present yourself accordingly. 

General definition of business attire for women: A reasonable length skirt or trousers of a non
jeans material combined with a top (such as a dress shirt, or sweater set) is considered 
acceptable. An informal dress with appropriate skirt length is also acceptable. 

General definition of business attire for men: A combination of collared shirt (such as a dress 
shirt or polo shirt), cotton trousers (such as khakis or blue, green, brown, or black trousers) with 
a belt. Jeans are not acceptable business casual attire. A blazer or business jacket can optionally 
be added. Jacket and tie and/or suits are recommended if and when on an official meeting or in 
an official capacity. 

The following is a partial list of examples that do not constitute business attire: jeans, shorts, tank 
tops, tee-shirts, cargo pants, mini-skirts, rumpled or ripped clothing, underwear as outerwear, 
inappropriately revealing attire such as bare midriffs, and flip-flops. 

2.2. Workplace Behavior and Employee Conduct 

In order to maintain a productive working environment, MGC expects a level of employee 
conduct that is consistent with the practices mature people expect from each other. Our behavior 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONRJRPalESONL Y 
Page I 

�Garning�i.<a.edm::: 5Q012 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

in the workplace should be based on the consideration of rights, privileges and responsibilities of 
all individuals and designed to protect you and MGC from careless or abusive conduct. As a 
responsible employee you are expected to abide by all rules, regulations, policies, procedures, 
and instructions ofMGC and managerial personnel. In the event of violations, MTC will impose 
such corrective action as is necessary, including disciplinary action where appropriate. 

Code of Conduct 

Conduct of employees shall at all times adhere to the highest standards of professional conduct 
and accountability and reflect favorably upon the Commission. Employees are expected to 
conduct themselves in their official relations with the public and with their fellow employees in a 
manner which will enhance public respect for, and confidence in, the employee, the 
Commission, and the Commonwealth as a whole. Employees are prohibited from engaging in 
any conduct in their official capacity that is intended to secure private gain, give preferential 
treatment to any person, or prevent any person from securing benefits to which he or she is 
entitled. Employees are expected to perform their duties in a fair and impartial manner and to 
avoid any conduct which gives the reasonable basis for an impression that he/she is acting 
otherwise. In no case should they abuse the integrity of the Commission or improperly use their 
official title. 

This manual in general and this section in particular are intended to educate Commission 
employees about what types of behavior are considered unacceptable and may subject them to 
discipline. The employee manual is not to be considered all-inclusive. The absence of a 
specifically enumerated rule of conduct does not mean or imply that any other acts of 
misconduct are condoned. The Commission reserves the right to discipline employees, up to and 
including termination, for unethical or unacceptable conduct which may or may not be 
enumerated specifically in this handbook. 

Employees must review and comply with M.G.L. c. 268A (the Conflict of Interest Law) as well 
as other applicable state and federal laws governing the conduct of public employees. All 
attorneys shall strictly adhere to all ethics standards established by the State Ethics Commission. 
In addition, within thirty days of being hired and then every two years thereafter, all employees 
must complete the State Ethics Commission's online training, which is available at the Ethics 
Commission's web site www.mass.gov/ethics. Upon completing the program, employees should 
print out the completion certificate and keep a copy for themselves. Employees will be required 
to provide a copy of the completion certificate to the Commission upon request. 

Criminal Activity 

PRELIMINARY -FDRDISClJSSIONPIJRroSESONL Y 
Page 2 

�Gamingecrnnmnmedcie: m12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

All MGC employees shall at all times adhere to the highest standards of conduct. If an employee 
engages in criminal activity relating to his or her employment at the Commission, he or she may 
be subject to discipline, up to and including discharge. Examples of criminal activity that relates 
to MGC employment include: theft, misappropriation or unauthorized use of MGC funds, 
falsification of time or other MGC records, possession or sale of drugs or possession of 
unauthorized firearms or other dangerous weapons on MGC property, acceptance or solicitation 
of gifts, money, or other things of value intended as inducement to perform or refrain from 
performing an official act, and other violations of laws of the United States or the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

All employees of the MGC must accept personal•·esponsibility for obeying the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, of other state jurisdictions, and of the United States. 
Any employee who is arrested, charged, or convicted of a crime must immediately notify 
the General Counsel. Depending upon the nature of the charge, an employee may be 
subject to suspension without pay and/or loss of other employee benefits, pending 
resolution of a criminal matter. Any employee who is convicted of a crime relating to 
his/her employment may be subject to discipline, up to and including discharge. 

2.3. Drug and Alcohol Policy 

The Massachusetts Gaming Commission seeks to ensure a safe, healthy, and productive work 
environment for all employees. Evidence clearly indicates that employee substance abuse results 
in low productivity, high absenteeism, excessive use of medical benefits, and a risk to their own 
safety as well as that of their co-workers. In a good faith effort to comply with the Federal Drug
Free Workplace Act of 1988, MGC, through this statement to employees,. hereby re-emphasizes 
its policy against the use of illegal drugs and alcohol on MGC's premises. 

MGC has taken steps to combat the dangers posed by substance abuse. Some resources available 
to you to help find out about treatment options and resources include the Governor's Alliance 
Against Drugs, which provides drug and alcohol education materials and is active in local 
schools and communities and the Massachusetts Substance Abuse Information and Education 
helpline located on the web at http://www.helpline-online.com or by telephone at 1 -800-32 7-
5050 (TTY 61  7-536 -5872). In furtherance of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1 988, and in an 
effort to safeguard further its employees, MGC hereby provides each employee with notice of 
the following: (i) all employees are required to adhere to the provisions and requirements 
contained in this Statement as a condition of their employment with MGC; and (ii) MGC policy 
calls for disciplinary actions, up to and including termination, in instances where employees are 
found to have violated the provisions of this Statement. 

MGC's policy is as follows: 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONPLJRIQ:;ESONL Y 
Page 3 

rvtasxrlm:usGming�mxGre: 5-Xll2 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

No MGC employee shall illegally manufacture, distribute, dispense, possess, consume or 
otherwise use any controlled substances during the employee's employment hours. The 
possession or consumption of a controlled substance is permissible only if it is under the 
direction of a physician or other person authorized to issue prescriptions for controlled 
substances. "Controlled substances" shall mean a drug, substance, or immediate precursor in 
any schedule or class referred to in MG.L. Chapter 94C. 

The illegal manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, consumption, or other use of 
alcohol or a controlled substance while on the job or while on MGC premises is an offense for 
which MGC will take such corrective action as is necessary, including disciplinary action where 
appropriate. Any illegal controlled substances may be turned over to the appropriate law 
enforcement agency and may result in criminal prosecution. Employees who are under the 
influence of alcohol or unlawfully under the influence of a controlled substance shall be subject 
to sanctions, up to and including discharge. 

MGC expects employees to report for work at all times in condition to perform their duties. 
Accordingly, off-the-job illegal use of a controlled substance which adversely affects an 
employee's job performance, or which could jeopardize the safety of other employees or guests 
ofMGC, or MGC property or equipment, may be proper cause for the imposition of disciplinary 
action, up to and including discharge, where appropriate. 

Managerial employees are to be alert for any infraction of this policy and are responsible for 
notifying the Human Resources Manager of any apparent violations. This Statement is intended 
to clarify MGC's drug-free workplace policy. If you have any further questions, please contact 
the Human Resources Department. 

2.4. Smoking Policy 

Pursuant to the Massachusetts Clean Indoor Air Act (Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 270, 
Section 22) no smoking is permitted in any space of the Commission. Smoking is permitted 
outside only, and in accordance with the guidelines of the building manager and/or property 
manager. Urns or other appropriate receptacles may be available in various outdoor locations for 
disposal purposes. 

2.5. Freedom from Unlawful Harassment and Discrimination Policy 

The Gaming Commission has a fundamental commitment to treating its employees with dignity 
and respect. The support of equal employment opportunity includes the recognition that all 
employees have the right to work in an environment free of unlawful harassment on account of 
race, color, religion, sex, national origin, ancestry, age, mental or physical disability, pregnancy, 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISClmONPURPOSESONL Y 

Page 4 
�Ganing;CornrrEmmt:dte: soo12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

sexual orientation, any veteran status, any military status or application for military service, or 
membership in any category protected under applicable local, state or federal law. Harassment 
and discrimination based on protected status, whether by managerial personnel, co-workers or 
third parties with whom the Commission does business is unlawful and will not be tolerated by 
the Commission. 

The Commission takes complaints of harassment and discrimination based on protected status 
seriously. The Commission will respond promptly to all reported complaints. Where it is 
demonstrated to its satisfaction that unlawful harassment and/or discrimination based on 
protected status did in fact occur, MGC will respond promptly and impose such corrective action 
as is necessary, including disciplinary action where appropriate. 

Please note that while this policy sets forth MGC's goals of promoting a workplace that is free of 
harassment and discrimination based on protected status, the policy is not designed or intended 
to limit MGC's authority to discipline or take remedial action for unacceptable or inappropriate 
workplace conduct regardless of whether the conduct satisfies the legal definition of harassment. 
Derogatory and otherwise inappropriate remarks, slurs, or jokes based on any category protected 
by law will not be tolerated. The initial responsibility to investigate complaints of harassment 
and discrimination in the workplace has been assigned to the Human Resources Manager and 
General Counsel. Any employee who believes that he or she has been subject to unlawful 
harassment or discrimination based on protected status should report the alleged act to the 
General Counsel and/or Human Resources Manager as soon as possible. If the employee would 
prefer to report the alleged act to the employee's direct manager, or to any other manager, the 
employee should feel free to do so. These individuals are available to discuss any concerns 
employees may have and to provide information about MGC's policy and the complaint process. 
Employees should not allow an inappropriate situation to continue by not reporting it, regardless 
of who is creating the situation. 

An investigation of any such complaint will be undertaken promptly. The investigation may 
include a private interview with the employee making the complaint, with witnesses, and with 
the person accused of harassment. 

The investigation will be conducted in such a way as to maintain confidentiality to the extent 
practicable under the circumstances. When MGC has completed its investigation, it will, to the 
extent appropriate, inform the person filing the complaint and the person alleged to have 
committed the conduct of the results of the investigation. If the investigation reveals that 
harassment did occur, MGC will act promptly to eliminate the offending conduct and impose 
disciplinary action where warranted. 

It is unlawful to retaliate against an employee for filing a complaint of unlawful harassment or 
discrimination based on protected status or for cooperating in an investigation of such a 
complaint. Any individual who has been found to have engaged in retaliation against an MGC 
employee for filing a complaint or participating in the investigation of a complaint may be 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONPlJRPQ5ESONL Y 
Page S 

�GmingCoolr!M:nmeGre: �12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

subject to appropriate sanctions, up to and including discharge. If any employee believes that he 
or she has been subjected to retaliation for having brought or cooperating in the investigation of a 
complaint of unlawful harassment or discrimination based on a protected class, that employee is 
encouraged to report the situation as soon as possible to the Human Resources Manager or 
General Counsel, the employee's direct manager, or any other MGC manager. We trust that all 
employees will continue to act responsibly to establish and maintain a pleasant working 
environment. 

2.6. Sexual Harassment Prevention Policy 

All employees have the right to be free from unwelcome sexual advances or any other verbal or 
physical conduct which constitutes sexual harassment. Sexual harassment is unlawful and will 
not be permitted by either managerial personnel or non-managerial personnel. MGC takes 
allegations of sexual harassment seriously. MGC will respond promptly to complaints of sexual 
harassment. Where it is demonstrated to its satisfaction that such harassment occurred, MGC will 
act promptly to eliminate the harassment and impose such corrective action as is necessary, 
including disciplinary action where appropriate. 

Please note that while this policy sets forth MGC's goals of promoting a workplace that is free of 
sexual harassment, the policy is not designed or intended to limit MGC's authority to discipline 
or to take remedial action for workplace conduct we deem unacceptable or inappropriate, 
regardless of whether that conduct satisfies the definition of sexual harassment. 

In Massachusetts, sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for 
sexual favors, and verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature where: (a) submission to or 
rejection of such advances, requests, or conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or 
condition of employment or as a basis for employment decisions; or (b) such advances, requests, 
or conduct have the purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work 
performance by creating an intimidating, hostile, humiliating, or sexually offensive work 
environment. These definitions include any direct or implied requests by a manager for sexual 
favors in exchange for actual or promised job benefits, such as favorable reviews, salary 
increases, promotions, increased benefits, or continued employment, as well as any sexually
oriented conduct that is unwelcome and has the effect of creating a workplace environment that 
is hostile, offensive, intimidating, or humiliating to male or female workers. 

Examples of conduct, which, if unwelcome, may constitute sexual harassment depending upon 
the totality of the circumstances, including the severity of the conduct and its pervasiveness, 
include the following: Either explicitly or implicitly conditioning any term of employment (e.g., 
continued employment, wages, evaluation, advancement, assigned duties, or shifts) on the 
provision of sexual favors; Touching a sexual part of an employee's body; Touching any part of 
an employee's body after that person has indicated, or it is known, that such physical contact was 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONI'lJRI'OSESONL Y 
Page 6 

�Grning�Nu:dre: 50012 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

unwelcome; Continuing to ask an employee to socialize on or off-duty when that person has 
indicated she or he is not interested; Displaying or transmitting sexually suggestive pictures, 
objects, cartoons, or posters if it is known or should be known that the behavior is unwelcome; 
Regularly using sexually vulgar or explicit language in the presence of a person if it is known or 
should be known that the person does not welcome such behavior; Derogatory or provoking 
remarks about or relating to an employee's gender, sexual activity or sexual orientation; Coerced 
sexual acts. 

The responsibility to investigate complaints of sexual harassment has been assigned to the 
Human Resources Manager and the General Counsel. Any employee who believes that he or she 
has been the subject of sexual harassment should report the alleged act to the Human Resources 

Manager and/or General Counsel as soon as possible. If the employee would prefer to report the 
alleged act to the employee's direct manager, or to any other manager, or to any one of the 
commissioners, the employee should feel free to do so. These individuals are available to discuss 
any concerns employees may have and to provide information about MGC's policy on sexual 
harassment and the complaint process. Employees should not allow an inappropriate situation to 
continue by not reporting it, regardless of who is creating the situation. 

An investigation of any such complaint will be undertaken promptly. The investigation may 
include a private interview with the employee making the complaint, with witnesses, and with 
the person accused of sexual harassment. The investigation will be conducted in such a way as to 
maintain confidentiality to the extent practicable under the circumstances. When MGC has 
completed its investigation, it will, to the extent appropriate, inform the person filing the 
complaint and the person alleged to have committed the conduct of the results of the 
investigation. If the investigation reveals that sexual harassment did occur, MGC will act 
promptly to eliminate the offending conduct and impose any appropriate disciplinary action, up 
to and including discharge. 

It is unlawful to retaliate against an employee for filing a complaint of sexual harassment or for 
cooperating in an investigation of a complaint for sexual harassment. Any individual who has 
been found to have engaged in such retaliation against another employee may be subject to 
appropriate sanctions, including counseling, verbal or written warnings, transfer, suspension 
and/or discharge. If any employee believes that she or he has been subjected to retaliation for 
having brought or supported a complaint of harassment, that employee is encouraged to report 
the situation as soon as possible to the Human Resources Manager or General Counsel, the 
employee's direct manager, or any other manager ofMGC. 

The state agency responsible for complaints of sexual harassment is the Massachusetts 
Commission Against Discrimination ("MCAD"). The MCAD can be reached in Boston at One 
Ashburton Place, Room 601, Boston, MA 02 1 08, telephone number: (61 7) 994-6000 or in 
Western Massachusetts at 436 Dwight Street, Suite 22 0, Springfield, MA 0 1 1 03,  telephone 
number: (41 3 ) 739-21 45. 

PRELIMINARY -FDRDISCUSSION�ONL Y 

Page 7 
�GmingCcrnrimn�Gie: �12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") is the federal agency which 
investigates sexual harassment claims. The EEOC can be reached at JFK Federal Building, 
Room 475, Boston, Massachusetts 02203, telephone number (61 7) 565 -3200. 

If you believe you have been the victim of sexual harassment or retaliation, you may contact the 
MCAD or the EEOC. You must file a charge at the MCAD or the EEOC within 300 days of the 
alleged discriminatory action. 

We trust that all employees will continue to act responsibly to establish and maintain a pleasant 
working environment free of sexual harassment and unlawful discrimination of any type. 

2.7. Conflict of Interest and Financial Disclosure 

Employees ofMGC are state employees and are thus subject to the Massachusetts Conflict of 
Interest Statute, Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 268A. You are encouraged to confer with 
our General Counsel if you have any questions about the application of this statute. In addition, 
all Commissioners and certain employees of the Commission are required to file annual 
disclosure documents with the Massachusetts State Ethics Commission. Employees to whom this 
requirement applies will be notified annually of their obligation by MGC and the State Ethics 
Commission. An employee who fails to fulfill this obligation will be subject to such corrective 
action as is necessary, including disciplinary action where appropriate. 

The following is a summary of the Chapter 268A provisions that apply to Commission's 
employees. Please note this is not intended to be a definitive or complete summary of these 
provisions, but only to give you an idea of the issues covered. If you have any questions with 
regard to the application of Chapter 26 8A to you or your activities, please contact the General 
Counsel. 

2.7.1. Summary of Provisions of Chapter 268A for State Employees 

Definition of State Employee 

For purposes of Chapter 268A, a "state employee" is a person performing services for or 
holding a position in a state agency. MGC is a state agency. A person is a state employee 
regardless of whether s/he is: elected or appointed, paid or unpaid, part-time or full-time, a 
regular employee or an independent contractor. 

The key personnel who provide services to a state agency under a contract between the 
agency and a corporate or other entity may be deemed to be state employees. 

PRBlMINARY -FORDJSCU&qONPlJRPOSESONL Y 

Page 8 
�GamingCcmr!ffiirnisiledre: 512012 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

The law applies less restrictively in some circumstances (see below) to a subset of state 
employees referred to as "special state employees." A special state employee is a state 
employee who:. is not paid for the services rendered to the state agency; is permitted by the 
terms of his contract or conditions of employment to engage in personal or private 
employment during normal working hours (written disclosure of such permission must be 
filed with the State Ethics Commission prior to the personal or private employment); or earns 
compensation as a state employee for an aggregate of less than eight hundred hours during 
the preceding three hundred and sixty five days. 

Bribery, Gratuities, Gifts 

No person may give something of value to a state employee to influence an official act 
(bribery). No such employee may accept a bribe. 

No person may give anything of substantial value (usually $50 or more in the aggregate) to a 
present or former state employee for or because of any act of the employee in performing his 
job. 

No present or former state employee may accept anything of substantial value for or because 
of any act of the employee in performing his job or for any act within his official 
responsibility. 

Acting for Others; Current State Employee 

A state employee may not: receive compensation from anyone other than the State in relation 
to any particular matter in which the State has a direct and substantial interest (e.g., receiving 
payment for consulting services from a private person or company in relation to a matter 
pending before the MGC); or represent (regardless of compensation) someone other than the 
State in connection with a particular matter in which the State has a direct and substantial 
interest (e.g., dealing with DEP in connection with a neighbor's permit application). These 
prohibitions apply to a special state employee only if (i) s/he personally participated in the 
particular matter or (ii) it is now or was within his/her official responsibility within one year 
or (iii) the matter is pending in an agency in which s/he has served on more than 60 of the 
preceding 365 days. 

A business partner of a present state employee may not represent anyone other than the State 
(with or without compensation) in any particular matter in which the state employee 
participates or has participated or over which he has official responsibility. 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONI'LJRIU)ESONL Y 

Page 9 
�GamingCorrJmmlisu:dae: �12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Acting for Others; Former State Employee 

A former state employee may not: ever represent or receive compensation from anyone other 
than the State in connection with a particular matter that is integrally related to a particular 
matter in which he participated as a state employee and in which the State has a direct and 
substantial interest. (This prohibition also applies to the former state employee's business 
partners, but for only 1 year after the state employment ceases.); for 1 year after state 
employment ceases, appear personally as a representative for someone other than the State in 
connection with a particular matter in which the State has a direct and substantial interest and 
which was under his official responsibility at any time within the two years prior to the end 
of his state employment; or for 1 year after state employment ceases, act as a legislative 
agent before the agency with which he was formerly associated. 

Participating in Matters Affecting the Financial Interests of Related Parties 

A state employee may not participate as such employee in a particular matter in which to his 
knowledge he or the following persons have a reasonably foreseeable financial interest: 
members of his immediate family (spouse, parents, parents-in-law, children, brothers, 
sisters); business partner; a "business organization" (includes non-profits) in which he serves 
as officer, director, trustee, partner, or employee; and a person or organization with which he 
is negotiating or has an arrangement concerning prospective employment. 

There is no violation if ( 1 )  the employee fully discloses to his appointing official and the 
State Ethics Commission the nature and circumstances of the particular matter and the 
financial interest and (2) the appointing official then either: assigns the matter to another 
employee; assumes responsibility for the particular matter; or files with the State Ethics 
Commission a written determination that the interest is not so substantial as to affect the 
integrity of the services the State may expect from the employee, in which case the employee 
may participate. 

Financial Interest in State Contracts 

A state employee may not have a financial interest, directly or indirectly, in a contract made 
by any state agency, in which the State is an interested party, of which interest he has 
knowledge or has reason to know. 

Exemptions-the prohibition does not apply: 
• if the financial interest consists of the ownership of less than one percent of the stock of a 

corporation; 

PRELIMINARY -FDRDISCUSSIONPlJRE'aiFSONL Y 
Page 1 0  

MlNafnmlsGamingO:JmJmrn me die: 5!XJ12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

• to a state employee who in good faith and within 30 days after he learns of an actual or 
prospective interest makes full disclosure of his financial interest to the contracting 
agency and terminates or disposes of the interest; 

• to a state employee under these conditions: 
(a) he is not a member of the General Court; 
(b) he is not employed by the contracting agency or an agency, which regulates the 
activities of that agency; 
(c) he does not participate in or have official responsibility for any of the activities of 
the contracting agency; 
(d) the contract is made after public notice or where applicable, through competitive 
bidding; and 
(e) the state employee files with the State Ethics Commission a statement making full 
disclosure of the interest and the interests of his immediate family in the contract. 
(f) in the case of a contract for personal services if ( 1 )  the services will be provided 
outside the employee's normal working hours, (2) the services are not required as 
part of the employee's regular duties, (3) the employee is compensated for not more 
than 500 hours during a calendar year, and (4) the head of the contracting agency 
makes and files with the State Ethics Commission a written certification that no 
employees of that agency are available to perform those services as a part of their 
regular duties. 

• to a state employee who is: 
(a) a member of the General Court; 
(b) the contract is made by an agency other than the General Court or either branch 
thereof; 
(c) his direct and indirect interests and those of his immediate family in the 
corporation or other commercial entity with which the contract is made do not in the 
aggregate amount to ten percent of the total proprietary interests therein; 
(d) the contract is made through competitive bidding; and 
(e) he files with the State Ethics Commission a statement making full 
disclosure of his interest and the interests of his and immediate family. 

• to a special state employee who: 
(a) does not participate in or have official responsibility for any of the activities of the 
contracting agency; and 
(b) he files with the State Ethics Commission a statement making full disclosure of 
his interest and the interests of his immediate family in the contract. 

• to a special state employee who: 
(a) who files with the State Ethics Commission a statement making full disclosure of 
his interest and the interests of his immediate family in the contract; and 
(b) the Governor exempts him. 

PREIJMINARY -FDRDISCUSSIONPl.JRIUlES ONL Y 
Page I I  

�GamingCcmnismHied!ie: 5/2JJ12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

• to a state employee who: 
(a) provides services or furnishes supplies, goods, and materials to a recipient of 
public assistance; 
(b) the services, supplies, goods, and materials are provided in accordance with a 
schedule of charges promulgated by the welfare agency; and 
(c) such recipient has the right under law to choose and in fact does choose the person 
or firm that will provide such services or furnish such supplies, goods and materials. 

• to a state employee 
'
who 

(a) teaches or performs other related duties in an educational institution of the 
Commonwealth; 
(b) does not participate in, or have official responsibility for, the financial 
management of the educational institution; and 
(c) is so employed on a part time basis. 

2. 7 .2. Appearance of Conflict 

A state employee may not knowingly: accept other employment involving compensation of 
substantial value, the responsibilities of which are inherently incompatible with the 
responsibilities of his public Department; use or attempt to use his official position to secure 
for himself or others unwarranted privileges or exemptions which are of substantial value and 
which are not properly available to other persons in similar circumstances; act in a manner, 
which creates the appearance that another person can improperly influence or unduly enjoy 
his favor in the performance of his official duties, or that he is likely to perform his duties 
influenced by kinship, rank, position or undue influence of any party or person. Exception: 
no violation occurs if the employee has disclosed in writing to his appointing authority on a 
form provided for that purpose by the state Ethics Commission the facts that would create the 
appearance. 

A current or former state employee may not knowingly: accept employment or engage in any 
business or professional activity that will require him to disclose sensitive information which 
he has gained by reason of his official position or authority; improperly disclose materials or 
data falling within the exemptions to the definition of "public records" acquired by him in the 
course of his official duties nor use such information to further his personal interest. 

2.8. Confidential Information 

The Commission has issued detailed regulations pertaining to the nature and handling of 
Confidential Information. The language in this section contains excerpts from such 
regulations (205 CMR 1 03) 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONPlJRIUillS ONL Y 
Page 1 2  

MlmrlnmlsGaming�medie: soo12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

All records made or received by the Commission or the Investigations and Enforcement 
Bureau (IEB) are public records and are available for disclosure on request, with the 
exception of the following: 

( 1) all records, including without limitation investigatory materials, specifically excluded 
from the definition of "public record" pursuant to M.G.L. c. 4, § 7, cl. 26; 

(2) all confidential information defined in 205 CMR 1 02.02(2); 
(3) all records which are or which contain "criminal offender record information", 

"evaluative information", or "intelligence information" pursuant to M.G.L. c. 6, § 167, 
the disclosure of which would not be in compliance with M.G.L. c. 6, § §  167 through 
178; 

(4) all records which are or which contain "personal data" pursuant to M.G.L. c. 66A, § 1, 
the disclosure of which would not be in compliance with M.G.L. c. 66A; or which are or 
which contain "personal information" pursuant to M.G.L. c.  93H, § 1, the disclosure of 
which would not be in compliance with M.G.L. c. 93H; and 

(5) all records specifically or by necessary implication exempted from disclosure by statute 
including, but not limited to, the exemption (a) statutes listed by the supervisor of public 
records in the Appendix to the official Guide to the Massachusetts Public Records Law. 

Official Custodians; Individual Responsible for Personal Data System 

The commissioner secretary is the official custodian of all books, documents and papers filed 
by the commission and of its minute book; the chief financial and accounting officer is the 
official custodian of its books of account and accounting records; the deputy director of the 
IEB is the official custodian of all records of the bureau; and the executive director is the 
official custodian of all other records of the commission. In the case of an absence or 
vacancy in the office of an official custodian, or in the case of disability as determined by the 
commission, the chair may designate an acting custodian to serve until the vacancy is filled 
or the absence or disability ceases. Each official custodian may, with the permission of the 
chair, from time to time delegate to another commissioner, employee or employees of the 
commission or the bureau responsibility for the custody of some or all public records under 
his or her jurisdiction. 

The custodians of the records will establish procedures for the safe keep of the records, and 
in the case of confidential information such procedures will include procedures to maintain 
restricted access to such records. Confidential information may be identified with tags 
"Exempt/Redact" within the content of a form or file. 

Employees are precluded from distributing or gaining willful access to confidential 
information without the prior express consent of the custodian of the records. Employees are 
advised to place particular attention to the nature of confidential information, and thus refer 
any questions they may have (i.e., whether or not certain information may be confidential) to 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONJ:lURIUiES ONL Y 

Page 1 3  
�GiningCcmrni.<,simi<al:dae: m12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

any one of the custodians of the records, any one of the commissioners or the General 
Counsel. 

Safeguarding Information from Improper Use and Disclosure 

MGC employees, consultants and contractors are expected to protect Sensitive Information 
from improper use and disclosure at all times. The following are examples of the kinds of 
protective procedures that should be followed: 

Limited Communication to MGC Personnel: Sensitive Information should not be 
communicated to other MGC employees, except to the extent that they need to know the 
information to fulfill their MGC mission-related responsibilities and their knowledge of the 
information is not likely to result in misuse or a conflict of interest. 

Limited Communication to Non-MGC Personnel: Sensitive Information should not be 
communicated to anyone outside MGC, including family members, except to the extent 
outside parties need to know the information in order to provide necessary services to the 
Commission, its applicants or recipients, or as otherwise directed by the General Counsel to 
comply with legal requirements necessitating disclosure, such as proper requests under the 
Public Records Act. 

Notification of Confidentiality: When Sensitive Information is communicated to any person, 
either inside or outside MGC, the individual receiving such information should be informed 
of its sensitive nature and the need to safeguard such information from improper use and 
disclosure. MGC will generally require that its contractors and consultants execute a 
confidentiality agreement that has either been provided or approved by the General Counsel 
before Sensitive Information is disclosed to them. 

MGC Use Only: Sensitive Information should only be used for MGC purposes. Under no 
circumstances may a present or former MGC employee, consultant, contractor or licensee 
"trade on" such information or otherwise use it, directly or indirectly, for personal gain or for 
the benefit of any party other than the owner of such information. Exception: From time to 
time, the Commission's Enforcement Division, may conduct or cause to conduct a criminal 
investigation. See separate section on procedures relative to criminal investigations. 

Prevention of Eavesdropping, Unauthorized Viewing, etc. : Sensitive matters should not be 
discussed in restaurants, on public transportation or in other public places or in locations, 
such as hallways, elevators and building lobbies, where unauthorized individuals could 
overhear the discussion. Similarly, Sensitive Information should not be exchanged or 
discussed via cordless or cellular phones or similar "non-secure" communication lines. 

PRELIMINARY -FDRDISOJSSIONPURFa;ES ONL Y 

Page 14 
�GmingCmnnimlmedie: 512012 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Speaker phones can amplify conversations and should be used with care when discussing 
Sensitive Information. Common sense precautions should also be taken with respect to 
Sensitive Information in written form, such as stamping or marking such documents 
"CONFIDENTIAL" to flag them for special handling, limiting access to files to those with 
an MGC-related "need to know," locking documents that contain Sensitive Information in 
desk drawers or file cabinets when you are away from your desk, carefully limiting the 
circumstances in which (and exercising appropriate care when) such materials leave MGC's 
office, delivering sensitive materials to others in sealed envelopes, and limiting the 
addressees and "cc's" of letters, memoranda, emails, and other communications containing 
Sensitive Information to those individuals who reasonably need to see such communications. 
Data stored on desktop computers, laptops, tablets, flash drives, CD-ROMs, and other 
electronic media containing Sensitive Information, should be properly secured to keep them 
from being accessed by unauthorized individuals. Documents containing Sensitive 
Information that are sent to printers should be picked up promptly, computer passwords 
should be protected, and MGC employees should log off when leaving the office. 

Communications with the Public; Compulsory Legal Process: All contacts with the media 
and all speeches or other oral or written public statements made on behalf of MGC, or 
concerning its activities, applicants or recipients, must be cleared in advance by MGC's 
Communications Director. In speeches and statements not made on behalf ofMGC, proper 
care should be taken to avoid any implication that the Commission endorses the views 
expressed. All disclosure requests under the Public Records Act or in the form of requests for 
discovery, subpoenas, court or administrative orders, or the like must also be referred to the 
General Counsel for appropriate handling. 

Special Procedures Relating to the Fair Information Practices Act: If you feel that some 
aspect of your job function requires you to collect, use, or maintain information about the 
personal finances, health or other personal circumstances or attributes of individuals, please 
contact the General Counsel for guidance. 

Special Procedures Relative to the Public Records Act: MGC is subject to the provisions of 
Massachusetts Public Records Act, M.G.L. Chapter 66, which can require the Commission to 
make certain Sensitive Information available to the public. Accordingly, documents and 
other data made or received by MGC and its consultants and contractors are subject to public 
disclosure unless such materials are specifically exempted under the statute and certain 
specific procedures are followed. 

No MGC employee other than the General Counsel is authorized to make determination as to 
whether particular information is a "Public Record" or is exempt from disclosure under the 
Public Records Act, or how MGC would respond to any given request or demand for 
disclosure of Confidential Information. 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONPlJRIDSES ONL Y 

Page 1 5  
Mass:dllmtsGamingCcm!nffirnW.i:dae: 51J)l2 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Additional Procedures: MGC divisions, departments, and working groups should establish 
appropriate supplemental procedures that are consistent with the above objectives and 
guidelines to help protect Confidential Information. Such procedures may include limiting 
the staffing of matters that entail Confidential Information and instituting appropriate file 
management techniques. All such supplemental procedures should be reviewed by the 
General Counsel and should be used only to protect Confidential Information from improper 
use and disclosure, and not to circumvent compliance with legal requirements necessitating 
disclosure of certain types of Confidential Information. 

2.9. Supplemental Employment and Business Activities 

General Statement 

As stipulated in the Commission's enabling statute G.L. chapter 23K section 3 (o) "No 
employee of the commission shall pursue any other business or occupation or other gainful 
employment outside of the commission without the prior written approval of the commission 
that such employment will not interfere or be in conflict with the employee's  duties to the 
commission." 

MGC recognizes that many of its employees have specialized skills or areas of expertise, and 
that the utilization of these skills in "supplemental employment" or business activities can be 
beneficial to both the individual and to MGC. As a general policy, MGC respects the right of 
an employee to engage in supplemental employment or business activities of the employee's 
choice, as long as: (i) the employee has obtained prior written approval from MGC; (ii) it 
does not bring discredit to MGC; and (iii) it does not diminish the fulfillment of the 
requirements of the employee's position with MGC. MGC may disapprove of any such 
supplemental employment or business activities. 

General Guidelines 

While the Commission does not, as a condition of employment, impose any absolute 
restrictions on an employee's right to engage in supplemental employment or business 
activities of the employee's choice certain general policies and procedural guidelines apply to 
supplemental employment or business activities of Commission employees: 

1 .  The employee's commitment during normal working hours is to the employee's full-time 
position at the Commission. Supplemental employment or business activities may not reduce 
the time spent or the quality of your work at MGC; 

PRHlMINARY -FDRDISCUSSIONHJRPOSESONL Y 
Page 1 6  

�GamingCmu:nffiimmedie: 512012 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

2 .  The supplemental employment or business activity may not influence the employee or 
create the appearance of influencing the employee in the performance of the employee's 
Commission employment; 
3 .  The employee may not use Commission sensitive information to secure or to support such 
supplemental employment or business activity; 
4. The employee may not use Commission equipment, supplies or materials (including 
telephones, fax machines, Department supplies, copy machines) in the course or in support of 
such supplemental employment or business activity; 
5. The employee may not be paid by a non-State or private party if the Commonwealth or 

MGC has a direct and substantial interest in the supplemental employment or business 
activity; 
6. In any supplemental employment or business activity, the employee must take care to 
avoid any perception that such supplemental employment or business activity is 
representative of or in any way connected with MGC or that employee's relationship 
therewith; and 
7. The supplemental employment or business activity must be in conformance with the 

Massachusetts Conflict of Interest statute. 

Prohibited Supplemental Employment or Business Activity 

1 .  The following outside supplemental employment or business activity is prohibited, even if 
it meets the above guidelines: any supplemental employment or business activity during your 
scheduled working hours (including, but not limited to, real estate, retail sales, insurance, law 
and accounting); 
2. Any supplemental employment or business activity that involves particular matters in 
which you have participated as a Commission employee or which are the subject of your 
official responsibility; and 
3 .  If you are a Commission attorney, you may not appear in court as an attorney on behalf of 
a private client if the Commonwealth or MGC is also an interested party. 
4. Any advocacy activity (paid or un-paid) for or against the presence of a casino in a local 
jurisdiction (within or outside of the Commonwealth). 

Activities that Are Not "Supplemental Employment or Business Activity" 

The following are examples of activities that are not generally considered to be 
" Supplemental Employment or Business Activity" and for which no advance approval will 
generally be required: 
1 .  Unpaid work for civic, scout, religious, educational, fraternal, social, community, 

veterans, or charitable organizations (However, you may not engage in fundraising 
activities for those organizations by soliciting funds from any person or organization that 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONPl.JRIUill)ONL Y 

Page 1 7  
Msxr.:fm:UsGming�medn:: 5!XJI2 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

does business with MGC. Be aware that the State's Conflict of lnterest Law has strict 
guidelines on what you may participate in if any matter involves MGC or another state 
agency.); 

2 .  Serving as a notary public or justice of the peace; 
3 .  Serving as a trustee, guardian, conservator, executor, administrator, or act as resident 

agent for your immediate family; 
4. Renting property (However, you may not rent property to MGC. Further, rental of any 

property to the Commonwealth, a municipality or any entity connected therewith may 
have ethical implications and should be reviewed by the State Ethics Commission); 

5 .  Personal and/or professional involvement in the community, with professional 
organizations, and in state or local politics (if those events or organizations do not include 
advocacy for or against casinos or gaming); and 

6. Performing minor services and odd jobs for friends, relatives, or neighbors. Examples 
include: repairs or maintenance work such as painting, yard work, carpentry, or 
babysitting and carpools involving payment for transportation. 

Notwithstanding the above, however, if any of these activities involves MGC, Commission's 
consultants, any person or organization that does business with MGC, or another state 
agency, you must get prior written approval from the Executive Director. These activities 
may not be undertaken during work hours. 

Disclosure Requirements 

A general policy cannot cover all situations. Employees planning to participate in 
supplemental employment or business activities are expected to disclose and review their 
plans with the Executive Director or his designee prior to making any commitment. 
Employees participating in supplemental employment and business activities are required to 
disclose the activities and make a report to the General Counsel on a semi-annual basis or 
whenever circumstances dictate. The report shall include the following: 
1 .  The company or organization involved 
2 .  Number of days (including dates) 
3 .  Type of activity 
4. Compensation (if requested) 
5 .  Other information deemed necessary or appropriate by the employee ofMGC 

You are encouraged to confer with our General Counsel if you have any questions about 
supplemental employment and outside activities. 

PRELIMINARY -FORDISCUSSIONR.JRPrnESONL Y 

Page 1 8  
�Gaming�mate: �12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

2.10. Corrective Action Process 

Our hope is always that employees will correct problems with performance and conduct when 
they occur. However, MGC may impose such corrective action as is necessary, including 
disciplinary action where appropriate. Typical progressive disciplinary action may include the 
following: 

1 .  The manager may issue a verbal warning to an employee for unsatisfactory conduct or 
performance; 

2 .  The manager may issue a written warning for continued or repeated unsatisfactory conduct or 
performance, or failure to satisfactorily improve following a verbal warning; and 

3 .  Discharge. 

For major offenses, such as physical violence, theft, destruction ofMGC property, unauthorized 
use ofMGC property, possession of controlled substances, etc., the first offense could result in 
termination of employment and even prosecution if commission of a crime occurs. This 
explanation is not meant to be all encompassing. Each incident requiring discipline is reviewed 
and handled on an individual basis. Although progressive discipline often is used to address 
performance issues, the decision whether to use progressive discipline and the appropriate type 
of discipline to apply in any particular case remains in MGC' s sole discretion. Your employment 
is at all times "at will," which means that either you or MGC may terminate your employment at 
any time and for any lawful reason. 

2.11. Open Meeting Law 

As a public instrumentality, the Commission is subject to State law governing the posting of 
meeting times and locations, and accessibility of meetings to the public, with regard to the 
meetings of the Commission. It is the responsibility of the MGC staff person convening the 
meeting to secure compliance with the Open Meeting Law. Commissioners generally schedule a 
public meeting once a week. Directors should confer with the Commissioner Secretary or the 
chair of the Commission to include items for discussion in the agenda. 

Among other considerations, certain confidential information obtained from applicants and 
licensees can be protected from unnecessary disclosure provided the procedures described in 
Employee Handbook Section 2 . 1 2  "Public Records Act and Other Legal Disclosure 
Requirements" are followed in connection with MGC meetings that would otherwise be subject 
to the Open Meeting Law. 

PREUMINARY -FORDISCU&SIONPl.JRPOSESONL Y 

Page 1 9  
�GrningGnnrJmmmedie: 512012 



THE MASSACHUSETTS G-AMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

2.12. Public Records Act and Other Legal Disclosure Requirements 

As a public instrumentality, MGC is subject to the Massachusetts Public Records Act, M.G.L. 
Chapter 66, which governs the retention, disposition, and archiving of public records. 
Commissioners, Directors and Staff are advised to confer with MGC's General Counsel about 
which records are "public records," how long you may be required to retain those records, the 
method by which they should be disposed of, and archiving requirements. The Public Records 
Act also contains provisions which could require the Commission to disclose to the public 
certain Sensitive Information made, received, or maintained by MGC, its contractors and 
consultants from time to time. In addition, MGC may be compelled by legal process to disclose 
information in its possession, including Sensitive Information about MGC itself or about its 
applicants, or recipients, or other third parties. Care must be taken to comply with all such legal 
requirements; however, it should be remembered that, in the absence of a specific legal 
requirement to disclose (as determined by the General Counsel), all MGC employees, 
consultants, contractors, and licensees are expected to take appropriate measures to safeguard 
Sensitive Information from improper disclosure and use at all times. If material is a "public 
record" within the meaning of the Public Records Act, it is subject to inspection by the public 
and cannot be destroyed or returned to those who delivered it to MGC, other than as specifically 
permitted under the Public Records Act. If material is deemed not to be a "public record," it is 
subject to some protection from disclosure under the law. 

What Are "Public Records"? 

For purposes of the Public Records Act, "public records" include all books, papers, maps, 
photographs, recorded tapes, financial statements, statistical tabulations, or other 
documentary materials or data, regardless of physical form or characteristics, made or 
received by MGC. File notes and memoranda created by MGC employees or outside 
contractors and licensees could be deemed to be "public records, and the use of the 
Commission's Information Technology Resources can create "public records" which are 
subject to the retention requirements of and potential disclosure under the Act. 

Exemptions under the Public Records Act 

"Public records" do not include certain materials or data which fall within one of the 
specifically enumerated exemptions set forth in the Public Records Act or in other statutes, 
including MGC's enabling act, M.G.L. 23K. One such exemption is for certain internal 
personnel records. 

PRELIMINARY -FDRDISCUSSIONPl.JRI'rnESONL Y 

Page 20 
�G!ming;Clmni.mlmedre: soo12 



THE MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK 

Procedural Considerations and Mandatory Use of Policy and Procedures for the 

Submission of Sensitive Information 

MGC staff may from time to time be exposed to types of information that may contain 
"'sensitive" information that a submitting party often seeks to protect from public disclosure. 
While it is understandable that the owner of such information may wish to restrict its 
disclosure, MGC is a "'public agency" pursuant to the Massachusetts Public Records Act, and 
the submission of such information to MGC is, generally speaking, subject to public 
disclosure (without notice and without restriction) upon MGC's receipt of it. In response to 
the inherent tension between MGC's obligation to honor public records requests in a timely 
and comprehensive manner, and a submitting party's desire to restrict access to its Sensitive 
Information, MGC has implemented a Policy and Procedures Regarding Submission of 
Sensitive Information (the "'Procedures") and that policy is set out in Section 2.8 of this 
Handbook. 

In addition, all communications seeking inspection or other disclosure of materials under the 
Public Records Act must be referred promptly to the General Counsel, as custodian of 
records for the Commission. Similarly, all subpoenas and other legal process documents 
requesting or seeking to compel disclosure of materials made or received by MGC, its 
consultants, or contractors must be delivered or promptly forwarded to the General Counsel 
upon receipt. 

2. 13. "Customer Relations" and Service 

As a public instrumentality, our "'customers" are made up of every citizen of the Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts. Our daily interactions include: communication with individuals from the 
gaming, hospitality, racing sectors, local and regional economic development officials, 
government officials, business and industry constituents, academicians, and environmental and 
consumer advocates. Building positive working relationships with all these groups is an integral 
part of the important work we do. 

You are encouraged to remember that you are a representative of MGC whenever you speak, 
correspond or meet with anyone in the course of your work for MGC. All employees are 
required to adhere to the highest standards of courtesy and politeness in our dealings with these 
individuals and groups who comprise our "customers." MGC and even the Commonwealth of 

Massachusetts may be judged on the manner in which we conduct business. Because of this, we 
pride ourselves in our effort to provide the highest level of performance to those we serve, 
whether that service involves responding to a telephone call, answering a request for information 
from a co-worker, meeting with grant applicants, or making a presentation to the State 
Legislature. As MGC employees, this is our responsibility and our mandate, and something of 
which we may all be proud. 

PRELIMINARY -FDRDISCUSSIONPlJRPCffiSONL Y 

Page 2 1  
�GamingOrnrr!mooffi.l:dE: 51Xl12 





A Statewide I n it iative Add ress i ng 
the Workforce Needs of the Gami ng 

I nd ustry i n  Massach usetts 

Prepared by the 

Massachusetts Community College System 
Casino Careers Training Institute 

Revised October 26, 2012 



Table of Contents 
I .  S u m ma ry - I n it ia l  Recom mendations 

I I .  H avi ng a Ready Workforce 

I l l .  Com m iss ion 's  Role - Licensure and 
Certificati o n  

I V. L icensed Occu pations 

V.  Criteria for L icensed Occu pations 

VI . S ki l ls Assessment - Ca reer Read i ness 
Certificate 

VI I .  The I nstruct ion 

VI I I .  Gam i ng Tra i n i ng Prog ram I nstructors 

IX.  Career Pathways 

X. Com m u n ity Col lege Capacity 

XI . Casi no O perator Relationsh i ps 

2 



I .  S u m mary - I n it ia l  Recom mendations 

The primary workforce issue related to the establishment of the Casino Gaming 
industry in  Massachusetts is to scale up the effort in  order to provide a d iverse pool 
of workers to meet the large demand for qual ified employees in a timely fashion. 
Recruitment, screening and ski l l  match ing wi l l  requ ire that a statewide pool of at 
least 30,000 appl icants be created to meet the estimated 1 0,000+ job open ings. I n  
order to meet this sizable demand and to impact the population of Massachusetts 
residents who are unemployed , underemployed , in  need of ski l ls tra in ing or looking 
for career pathways the State's workforce system and community colleges have 
come together to offer a united workforce response to the needs of this new to 
Massachusetts i ndustry. 

Therefore we recommend the fol lowing steps in order to meet this requirement: 

a) That the Massachusetts Gaming Commission enter into a Memorandum of 
Agreement/Understanding with the Massachusetts Community Col lege 
System Casino Career Train ing I nstitute (the Institute - a  col laboration of the 
community colleges, Workforce I nvestment Boards/Reg ional Employment 
Boards and various workforce development agencies) to design and 
implement the workforce program including recruitment, screening, career 
counsel ing,  tra in ing ,  and job placement for licensed positions; 

b) That the I nstitute, in collaboration with the Commission , work with al l  potentia l  
Casino Developers/Operators to create a Memorandum of Understanding that 
wil l  create a workforce relationship with the Casino Career Training Institute in  
order to enable the workforce scale up to begin as soon as possible; 

c) That the Commission and selected casino operators collaboratively define 
the pre-employment screening requirements and process such as residency, 
d rug testing, CORI/SORI review, and basic educational requirements; 

d) That the Commission create a certification for al l  potential casino workers i .e .  
Casino Industry Employability Certificate (CIEC) , and a License for gaming 
related occupations cal led the Gaming Employabi l ity License (GEL) which 
would have three license levels: Key, Gaming or Gaming Service; and , 

e) That the commission work with Governor, the Legislature and various 
secretariats to identify funding options for the in itial train ing and for the 
eventual training of incumbent workers. (Some of the options include 
employer contributions, individual fee-based payments, workforce set aside 
from casino operations, workforce train ing fund , WIA vouchers, etc.) 

I I .  H av ing a Ready Workforce 

I n  November of 201 1 ,  Governor Deval Patrick signed into law legislation establ ishing 
the Casino Industry in  Massachusetts. The focus of the legislation was to create 

3 



jobs while also enhancing the existing business cl imate in the Commonwealth , 
specifically the hospital ity/entertainmenUtourism sector and the small business 
sector. At the same time the legislation charges the Gaming Commission with the 
responsib i l ity for maintain ing the integrity of gaming and gaming operations. 

Bui lding the workforce for this new-to-Massachusetts industry wil l  requ i re recruiting , 
screening,  tra in ing and p lacing a large number of workers for or in  the construction,  
hospital ity, business operations and gaming industries. It is estimated that wel l  over 
30 ,000 appl icants wil l need to be recru ited to fi l l  approximately 1 0 ,000+ positions at 
the three new casino locations alone. An immed iate task for the Gaming 
Commission is the drafting of regulations for the selection of tra in ing vendors for 
gaming related positions, the identification of occupations which wi l l  be l icensed and 
the resulting requ i rements , including screening and training ,  for each gaming 
occupation .  These decisions wi l l  help the Commission create an environment, which 
wi l l  maintain the integrity of gaming operations in  Massachusetts . However, the high 
level of screening of applicants and the specific l icensure train ing wil l  require a large 
planning effort and a fast scale up effort that needs to begin now in order meet the 
needs of the industry for openings, wh ich may occur with in 1 8  months to 2 years. 

Labor Pool 

Candidates 

Massachusetts Casino Industry 

Workforce Scale-up Model 

30,000 -------, 

All Casino Positions 

Casi no I ndustry 

Employabil ity 

Certificate (CIEC) 

10,000 employees 

Licensed Occupations 

o Key 

o Ga ming 

o Ga ming Support 

4,000 empl oyees 

Each of the three identified gaming regions face a variety of workforce challenges,  
includ ing , but not l imited to: 

• An aging workforce population 

4 



• Shortages of technically skil led workers 

• Multip le-language considerations at entry level 

• Lack of "professional" customer service employees 

• Low educational attainment levels of unskil led and currently unemployed 

• Shal low hospitabi l ity and restaurant supervisor and mid manager labor pools 

• Fears of major labor force cann ibal ization from other service oriented and 

technical ski l led trades dependent industry sectors 

It is clear that the State and its workforce development system need a unified 
response to the establ ishment of this new industry. A col laborative workforce effort 
wi l l  comprehensively address these issues, create an efficient and effective 
response to the workforce needs, attract a d iverse labor pool, util ize the specific 
strengths of various workforce partners , provide a single point of contact for the 
Commission and the Casino developers/operators and provide a h igh-quality training 
program .  

I n  l ight of the new law, o n  April 1 3 , 20 1 2 , the presidents of the 1 5  Massachusetts 
Community Col leges (System) signed a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA-
Attachment 1 )  endorsing a statewide in itiative to address the workforce needs of the 
new gaming industry in Massachusetts. The MOA provides for coord inated 
approach to working with state agencies, the Massachusetts workforce system, 
educational institutes and designated casino operators to: 

• Provide for the recruitment, screening, training and placement of 
Massachusetts residents i n  positions related to the gaming industry and 
the associated development project; 

• Provide coordination and l inkages between al l  shareholders and 
stakeholders involved in identifying and developing the necessary human 
capital for the gaming faci l ities in  the Commonwealth - i .e .  establish 
regional workforce collaborations within the gaming regions; 

• Establish the Casino Career Training Institute (Institute) a collaboration 
by and between the 1 5  community col leges and the regional workforce 
leadership with in  each gaming reg ion of the Commonwealth ; 

• Plan to meet the gaming related occupation train ing needed by leasing 
curriculum,  techn ical assistance, and train-the-trainer services from Atlantic 
Cape Community College (ACCC) in  New Jersey; and, 

• Develop educational pathways (aka 2+2+2) from h igh school through 
grade 1 6  that are al ig ned to the career pathways in  the gaming industry 

The presidents affirmed that the 60+ year h istory of the community col leges to 
provide appropriate and effective career/l icensure train ing cou ld be appl ied to the 
workforce needs related to the casino industry, specifically in relation to positions 
requiring l icensure. Real izing that this is a new in itiative for a new industry, that the 
size of projected workforce is sign ificant, and that there are a variety of workforce
related tasks that need to be done in  a short period of time, the presidents 

5 



recogn ized the need for a systematic statewide (with reg ional teams) workforce 
approach . No one organization has the abil ity to achieve this task alone. I n  addition 
they noted that each member of the workforce system has d istinct strengths.  The 
roles of the various Institute workforce partners ,  include, but are not l imited to : 

• Workforce Investment Boards (Regional Employment Boards) can help 
define the regional workforce pool ,  provide data management, facil itate 
regional responses to grants and other funding opportun ities and engage 
and maintain business input in the workforce development process. 

• One-stop Career Centers provide a visible entry point for many job 
seekers with the abi l ity to recru it, screen and direct individuals to the 
appropriate career pathways and related tra in ing.  The Centers also provide 
a sign ificant level of support services regard ing job readiness , e .g .  interview 
preparation, resume writing , job match ing and more. 

• Community based organizations, labor unions, and other public and 
private vendors provide a variety of training offerings in the construction ,  
hospital ity, and related industries. It is estimated that over 65% of the new 
jobs wil l  not be related to gaming.  

• Four-year higher education and graduate programs provide a number of 
educational pathways, which wil l  enable ind ividuals to enhance their  
knowledge for positions requ iring advanced ski l ls .  (2+2+2 transfer options) 

• Local School Districts and Vocational Schools provide the opportunity to 
develop career pathways in  culinary, hospital ity, i nformation technology and 
numerous other areas. 

Ensuring a Diverse Casino I ndustry Workforce: 

Diversity is an important issue for the Community Col leges of Massachusetts both in 
terms of the students they serve but also in terms of the faculty and staff h i red by the 
col leges. The colleges have a strong trad ition of developing d iversity in itiatives. The 
Institute acknowledges that the Massachusetts Gaming Legislation p laces a high 
priority on ensuring that those fi l l ing the new casino industry positions wil l  represent 
a d iverse workforce. We anticipate that the Gaming Commission, as part of the 
appl ication package, wil l  require a Diversity Plan from each applicant. Simi lar plans 
are required for licensing of operators in other states . The fol lowing is the Diversity 
M ission Statement for the Institute. A detailed plan can be found in Attachment 2 .  

The Massachusetts Casino Careers Training Institute 
Diversity Mission Statement 

"The Institute and its partners are committed to establishing a casino industry 
workforce system that assures equal employment opportunity for all persons 
regardless of race, color, religion, gender, age, national origin, citizenship 
status, or disability. We are dedicated to establishing a system that reflects a 

6 



fundamental respect for different ways of working and living. We intend to 
assure every individual the opportunity to reach his or her potential. 

We are committed to recruiting and developing the best employees for the 
industry regardless of race, color, religion, sex, age, disability or national 
origin. The Institute will develop systems and activities that will comply with 
the Equal Employment Opportunity Act and will adopt policies consistent with 
the Act that apply to all practices including recruitment, education and · 

training, and placement. 

We believe that all future casino industry employees are responsible for 
contributing to a work environment free from discrimination and prejudice, 
regardless of position or title. We will ensure that diversity is respected, 
encouragec:J,and embraced throughout the system. " 

a) Insert Statewide Workforce Profile with regional profiles as well 
b) Insert Casino Workforce Demand Projection 

I l l .  Com m ission 's Role Rega rd i ng 
Licensu re and Certificatio n  

There are a variety of items, which require decis ions from the Massachusetts 
Gaming Commission, such as: 

• Adoption of a system, which will create the casino industry labor force needed 

for the startup phase and for the sustainabi l ity of the workforce (It is 

recommended that the Massachusetts Gaming Commission execute a 

Memorandum of Agreement with the MA Community Col lege System Casino 

Career Train ing Institute (MOA) on behalf of the State's Workforce 

Development System to design and implement the workforce program.) ;  

• Define residency as wel l  as other h i ring requirements such as drug testing 

and CORI/SORI review; 

• Identification of occupations requ iring l icensure or certification as wel l  as the 

requirements and process for l icensure or certification of individual workers 

for those specific jobs; 

• Adoption of rigorous and reliable certification and l icensure curriculum;  

• Confirmation of the workforce training infrastructure regard ing but not l imited 

to enrol lment, confidentiality, documentation ,  support services, staffing and 

reporting compl iance .  

7 



• Creation of reciprocal agreements or test-out provisions for workers from 

other states with previous experience; and,  

• Determining the business model ( i .e .  source of funding for the equipment, 

assessments, job coach ing,  train ing,  p lacement, etc.) 

• I nsuring affordable access to the pathway to employment to individuals who 

may have fiscal challenges . 

At the same time there are a n umber of other workforce concerns, wh ich wil l  need to 

be addressed : 

• The protection of MA citizens from training operations which are not 

sanctioned by the commission and that wi l l  place a financial burden on the job 

seeker; 

• Erad ication of potential fly-by-night tra in ing providers who do not meet the 

Commission's guidelines and may be com mitting un lawfu l gaming acts; 

• Confirm with casino operators the workforce certification and l icensure 

program so they can the necessary workforce planning by the Casinos wi l l  be 

part of the RFP process ; 

• Limit m isinformation related to casino jobs as wel l  as the l icensure and 

certification process; 

• Creating pol icy, procedures, technology and other infrastructure 

requirements; and,  

• The timing of the workforce scale up.  

I V. L icensed Occu pations 

As the legis lation states, the Gaming Commission wil l develop the regulations that 
wi l l  identify the l icensed occupations and l icensing requirements for the gaming 
industry. Those decisions ,  combined with the add itional requirements of the casinos, 
wil l dictate the d i rection the workforce system shareholders wil l  undertake in 
employee recruitment, screen ing and train ing.  In reviewing the decisions of the 
gaming oversight agencies (commissions/gaming control boards/lottery 
commissions) in New Jersey, Delaware, West Virg in ia ,  and Pennsylvania,  it is clear 
that l icensed positions are identified as those positions that have contact with or 
wh ich can influence the gaming activities in  the casinos. 

At a min imum, those positions typically include employees involved in  table games , 
slot mach ine repai r/maintenance, and security/survei l lance. Delaware probably has 
one of the most comprehensive l icensing protocols of the four  states and it is also 
al igned with Section 20 of the Massachusetts law. Their l icensing system is the 
fol lowing: 

8 



• Key Licensees are persons acting in  a supervisory capacity or empowered to 
make d iscretionary decisions regard ing operations which include Pit 
Managers, Cage Managers, floor supervisors , cage or cash ier managers and 
officers/upper management of the Casino. 

• Gaming Licensees are persons involved in security, maintenance, servicing , 
repair, or operation of VL Ts (slots) and table games. They include Dea lers, 
VL T Technicians, Cage Cash iers, Security/Survei l lance Officers , among 
others. Roughly eighty percent of their l icensees have Gaming l icenses. 

• Gaming Service Licensees are persons who have access to the gaming or 
restricted gaming area but are not Key or Gaming employees. They include 
Bartenders ,  Cocktai l  Servers (who work the casino floor) , EVS - anyone who 
works on the gaming floors, but doesn't work on machines/tables and can't 
influence game play or access sensitive information .  

Al l  three-l icense levels are required to complete their l icensing proced ures; cost 
of appl ication fee and scope of investigation vary by level .  Employees who work 
in hotels, restaurants, back-of-house, etc. are not required to be l icensed. 

V. Crite ria for L icensed Occu pations 
The System recommends that the Casino consider adopting the fol lowing pol icies: 

• That through the Casino Training I nstitute al l  casino industry employees 

obtain the basic Casino I ndustry Employability Certificate (CI EC) indicating 

that they have successfu lly completed the background check (CORI/drug 

testing) and have the basic educational requ i rements for employment; and, 

• That those employees involved in  gaming operations (30 to 40%) wil l  obtain a 

Gaming Employabi l ity License (GEL) which would have three levels: Key, 

Gaming or Gaming Service l icenses (using the names from the Delaware 

system) demonstrating that they have completed the required train ing or its 

equivalent and have met al l  the criteria for l icensed occupations. 

Recommended License Criteria:  
• Drug Testing 
• CORI/SORI 
• Pre-employment skil ls assessment (Reading for I nformation ,  Appl ied 

Mathematics , and Locating I nformation) 
• Training Completion Certificate (or appropriate experience) 
• Post-training assessment - Career Read iness/Employabi l ity Certificate 
• License Appl ication 
• License Fee 
• MA Gaming Commission issued l icense 

9 



VI . Ski l ls Assessment - Career Read i ness 
Certificate 

In d iscussion with the community col leges in  the four  aforementioned states, 
applicants' inabi l ity to pass a CORI ,  to speak/read/write Engl ish effectively, and/or 
possess the required education levels and/or basel ine ski l ls has caused them to 
recru it far more individuals than the number of needed employees. This information 
is consistent with the experiences of the System's commun ity col leges that have run 
industry-specific workforce train ing that has tra in ing and job prerequisites. These 
efforts dictate that approximately 3 individuals must be recruited and screened for 
every one el igible ind ivid ual . Between 25 ,000 and 35,000 ind ividuals wil l  have to 
apply in order to fi l l  a l l  the positions. Therefore this wil l  be a large number of 
individuals who wi l l  not be h i red by the Casinos. 

The reg ional workforce systems have experience in recruiting and screening 
ind ividuals for jobs and train ing.  With the col leges as partners it  a lso has the 
education system in place to provide a safety net to individuals who do not currently 
possess all of the requirements for employment. Through  the screening and career 
advising process available through the One Stop Career Centers and the train ing 
center staff, those applicants who do not meet basic education ,  Engl ish language, or 
education/ski l l  level requ i rements wil l  be referred to education and training services 
where they can obtain those skil ls and reapply for gaming train ing and/or 
employment once they have attained the add itional skil ls or education. 

It is important to note that the intent of the law is to result in  a net increase in  new 
jobs. While every attempt wil l  be made to provide employment to the unemployed , 
underemployed , and d islocated workers, there wi l l  be current employees in other 
industries who desire employment in the casinos. The reg ional workforce partners 
wil l  have a system in place to assist current employers in order to backfi l l  their 
vacated jobs with qualified employees. 

The System and its workforce partners wil l  util ize the ACT WorkKeys assessment 
system to evaluate each appl icant's existing workplace ski l ls in Reading for 
I nformation,  Applied Mathematics, and Locating I nformation .  These three 
assessments are the fou ndation of many statewide Career Read iness Certificates 
(CRCs) endorsed across the country. Holyoke Community Col lege has had several 
conversations with the Massachusetts Department of Labor and Workforce 
Development about adoption of the CRC, and while the Department is in agreement 
on the CRC's use in the Commonwealth 's workforce system, its use has not yet 
been funded . The CRC has been used by a number of the commun ity colleges in 
g rant-funded programs and private company contracts to design appropriate 
customized train ing curriculum for companies and for screening program participants . 
The CRC assessments can be administered both at the col leges and at the One 

1 0  



Stop Career Centers in order to provide assessments in as many locations as 
possible. 

The commun ity col leges wi l l  evaluate appropriate WorkKeys ski l l  level scores for 
each of the occupations that wi l l  be recruited for the casinos. Through the screening 
and advising process, each ind ividual's scores wi l l  be compared to the benchmark 
scores of the casino occupations, and the individual wi l l  be made aware of wh ich 
occupations for which they would currently qual ify. Those who desire a position 
requiring a higher score wi l l  be enrol led into a short-term developmental course that 
wi l l  assist them in raising their scores to an appropriate level so they wil l  qual ify to 
apply for those positions or, in the case of l icensed positions, wi l l  al low them to enrol l  
into the gaming train ing for those positions.  

It is anticipated that publ ic fund ing wil l  be identified to fund the train ing costs for 
unemployed , underemployed , and d islocated workers . Those applicants who are in 
need of train ing but who do not qual ify for publ ic funding but must be certified 
through completion of gaming train ing must self-pay their program costs. 

a) I nsert Gantt chart for the scale up of the l icensure and ful l  workforce process 
b) I nsert additional information on funding options 

Funding models for workforce train ing and specifical ly l icensure train ing wi l l  need to 
be explored. In  add ition to payment by ind ividuals or an investment by private 
businesses a combination of the fol lowing options will be necessary. 

• WIA Vouchers through the One-Stops (The trend is for the reduction of 
this source) 

• Special WIA dislocated worker funds through the One-Stops 
• WIA state regional set asides (REBs and One-Stops, s imi lar to the 

funding for the previous green programming) 
• WIA state set asides (th roug h DLWD) 
• Combined funding from DWLD,  D H E ,  DOE,  DTA simi lar to some 

previous initiatives such as BEST 
• Special funding using the Massachusetts Workforce Train ing Funds 

(again,  through D LWD) 
• DTA funding spcificallyspecifica l ly for TAFDC recipients (through 

H HS/DTA) 
• A funding pool using some funds u nder the jurisdiction of the 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

1 1  



VI I .  The I nstruction 

Gaming Training: 
As previously noted, any instruction for l icensed gaming positions (table games, slot 
technicians, and survei l lance) wil l  be through the community col leges util izing 
ACCC's curricu lum,  and additional casino-specific tra in ing topics wil l  be infused into 
the tra ining programs. The fol lowing is a sample of the curriculum - a more detai led 
summary is attached . 

· 

a) Sample Courses for Gaming Train ing (See next pqge) : 

MA Casino Ind ustry 
Certification Tra i n i ng 

Training Prerequisite: 
I ntroduction to Not Required 
Casino Games -
Blackjack 
Craps Introduction to Casino 

Games. 
Baccarat I ntroduction to Casino 

Games. 
Poker I ntroduction to Casino 

Games. 
Pai Gow Tites I ntroduction to Casino 

Games. 
Roulette I ntroduction to Casino 

Games. 
Pai Gow Poker I ntroduction to Casino 

Games. 
Surveillance l ntroductton to Casino 
Train ing_ Games. 
Slot Technology 
Technicians 
Ski l ls Assessment I ntroduction to Casino 
Program Games. 

Number of 
Training Training Schedule of 

Hours Del ivery 
80 5 hours per day, 4 days 

per week 

1 60 5 hours per day, 4 days 
per week 

80 5 hours per day, 4 days 
per week 

80 5 hours per day, 4 days 
per week 

80 5 hours per day, 4 days 
per week 

80 5 hours per day, 4 days 
per week 

80 5 hours per day, 4 days 
per week 

96 5 hours per day, 4 days 
per week 

96 5 hours per day, 4 days 
per week 

2 1 Session 

1 2  

Number 
of 

Weeks 

4 

8 

4 

4 

4 

4 

4 

4.8 

4.8 



Using this sample curriculum the following estimated cost model was developed . It 
g ives an in itial assessment of the cost of the training start up expense. It attempts to 
identify al l  the variables involved in  determining the cost. 

13  



b) Estimated Cost Model for Gaming Train ing:  

MA Casino Industry Certification Tra i n i ng -
Start U p  Phase Labor Pool Development 
Sam ple Expense Esti mate - Septem ber 1 2, 201 2  

sino Career 
Advisement 

Casino Em ployabi l ity 
Certification 

Work Read iness and ESL 
Train ing/Casino Ind ustry 

I ntra to Casino Games 
Blackjack* 

Craps 

Hours of 
Tra in i  

2 

6 
24 

80 

No. of 
Employees 
Needed to 

Est. be Trained Gross 
Cost * 

$50 

$235 

$250 

$650 

* Total number of employees to be trained includes projected turnover for each position for the in itial 
2-year startup period . 

** Costs of Recruitment (Advertising, CORI/SORI ,  Drug Testing,  Basic Educational Assessment) are 
not included in th is estimate. 

1 4  



c) Add itional Gaming-related Cost Factors: 

Another cost factor to be considered is tra in ing space bu i ld-out and the fitting up of 
space with the necessary equipment. Through d iscussions and negotiations with 
the selected casino operators, the training center locations wi l l  be determined by the 
casinos' avai labi l ity of appropriate train ing space or a mutually agreed upon location .  
It is  anticipated that, as has occurred in  the four aforementioned states, the casinos 
wi l l  provide the equipment necessary for hands-on instruction and practice in  the 
train ing programs. 

English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL): 
Those appl icants who are determined to be in need of Eng lish language train ing in 
order to meet the requ i rements of thei r  desired positions or to enroll into gaming 
tra in ing wi l l  be referred to the many Massachusetts Department of Education or 
Department of Publ ic Welfare ESOL programs ava i lable at a number of the 
workforce development partner organizations including the colleges. The ESL 
program is designed to help ind ividuals improve their Engl ish ski l ls and thereby be 
able to reapply for positions at a future date. 

GED Preparation and/or Testi ng:  
Those who have not earned a high school d ip loma or GED that may be required of 
thei r  desi red occupations will be p rovided with a l ist of ava ilable programs and 
testing sites. Again ,  many of the workforce development partners , including the 
col leges a lready offer these services. Once they have earned their GED, they may 
reapply for appropriate positions or gaming tra in ing.  

CRC Skills Development: 
Currently, two recognized providers of ACT WorkKeys-al igned curricu lum exist
Worldwide I nteractive Network (WI N) ,  and Key Train .  Both companies provide 
curriculum that is ski l ls-based and adult-oriented . Either of these curriculums wil l  be 
util ized to improve applicants' reading , math and locating information skill levels and 
subsequent WorkKeys scores. 

Non-Gaming Training: 
Through the various workforce partners workforce ski l ls train ing in  non-gaming 
occupations wil l  be provided . By maximizing the strengths of various tra ining 
partners, includ ing the college, a h igh-level of workforce tra in ing wi l l  be offered to job 
seekers. 

VI I I .  Gam i ng Tra i n i ng Prog ram I nstructors 

The lease between the System and ACCC includes the train ing of the System's 
gaming instructors in the teaching of the classroom and hands-on laboratory 

1 5  



portions of the ACCC curriculum.  Once trained in  the curricu lum,  the trainers wil l  be 
certified as authorized to teach ACCC's gaming programs. As has occurred in  every 
state that util izes ACCC's curricu lum,  many of the tra iners are also employees of the 
casino for wh ich the tra in ing is being held . This g ives the casino additional leverage 
in includ ing unique casino-related topics into the curricu lum,  and in ensuring that 
program graduates have the highest technical ski l l  levels possible so they wi l l  be 
effective employees once h ired . ACCC has establ ished qual ifications for their 
trainers. The System wil l  apply those qual ifications to anyone that is h ired as a 
gaming program trainer. Trainers wil l  be monitored and evaluated by System staff to 
ensure adherence to ACCC's core curricu lum, and effective adu lt teaching 
methodology. 

IX .  Ca reer Pathways 

Job seekers, with varying ski l ls and with d ifferent levels of educational attainment, 
wi l l  seek out these new casino employment opportun ities. I n  order to successfu lly 
match individuals to jobs and career pathways it will be important to have a 
mu ltipl icity of train ing options and the proper support services i n  place. The 
Massachusetts Community Colleges are un iquely situated and qual ified to assist the 
gaming industry with the development of formal career pathways within the casinos, 
and to develop education pathways that are al igned to their career pathways. With 
solid relationships with virtua l ly al l  high schools and four-year col leges in the 
Commonwealth through Career and Techn ical Educational Linkages, School To 
Career, and a variety of articulation agreements, the System wil l  work with these 
educational institutions to develop 2+2+2 education and train ing opportun ities that 
wi l l  provide casino employees with the opportun ity to continue their education and 
thereby qual ify for advancement within the industry. 

I n itially, the System is developing an inventory and matrix of al l  credit and non-credit 
programs amongst the 1 5  community col leges. The System has developed a 
generic Occupational List and Career Cluster document (see Attachment 6) for the 
gaming industry. Using that document, the System wil l  develop a career pathway 
document that wi l l  show the potential career ladders and lattices for each cluster. 
For defin ition purposes, ladders designate upward mobi l ity opportunities, and lattices 
designate crossover occupations where one may use their transferable ski l ls from 
one career ladder to move to another. 

Once the three casino operators are selected by the Gaming Commission , staff from 
the Lead Community Col leges i n  the three regions wil l  meet with the casino 
operators to review and refine the Occupational List/Career Cluster and Career 
Ladder documents to reflect the actual occupations and ladders within each of the 
casinos. Once those are refined , the Lead Col leges wil l  al ign the education and 
tra in ing p rograms to the actual career ladders at each casino and wil l then meet with 
representatives from each casino to review the education pathways and attempt to 
gain agreement from the casinos to adopt the educational pathways and pay or 

1 6  



reimburse the tuition of any of their  employees who enroll into the pathways for 
career advancement purposes. 

Using the final pathways, the System wi l l  work with h igh schools and vocationa l 
schools to advise them of the pathways with in  the community colleges i n  order for 
high school gu idance counselors to be able to recommend course selection for high 
school students that would begin the students' pathways to casino industry careers. 
System representatives would also meet with four-year institutions to develop 2+2 
programs that would take students graduating community col lege degree programs 
as third-year students into bachelor degree programs. 

This grade 9-1 6 approach wil l  satisfy the intent of the Massachusetts gaming law of 
ensuring careers , not just jobs, for casino employees who want to participate in 
l ifelong learning experiences and advance with in the industry. 

X. Com m u n ity Col lege Capacity 
and Capabi l it ies 

The following describes the in itiative's key elements that we bel ieve wil l  meet the 
needs and expectations of the Gaming Commission in fulfi l l ing its workforce related 
duties described in the leg islation . As the Commonwealth's training vendor the 
community col leges are uniquely positioned to p rovide the necessary train ing as well 
as help bui ld the workforce collaboration,  wh ich is imperative in  order to have a 
ready workforce i n  a timely fashion. 

a. Appropriate and Effective Training:  The Community Col lege System has a 
standing Letter of Agreement with Atlantic Cape Community Col lege (ACCC) 
for a long-term lease of its international ly recognized gaming training 
curriculum, techn ical assistance, and train-the-trainer services. ACCC's 
curricu lum,  util ized by the State's community col leges, is the training 
curriculum approved by the states of New Jersey, Delaware, West Virg in ia ,  
and Pennsylvania for training its l icensed gaming employees. No other 
existing curricu lum in the nation can compare to ACCC's 30+ years 
experience i n  providing effective tra in ing for the gaming industry. The 
System's agreement with ACCC provides for exclusive access to their 
curricu lum and services in  Massachusetts and potentia l ly in  contiguous states 
that may fa ll with in a 1 00-mile rad ius of any approved Massachusetts casino. 

Use of the ACCC curriculum and services, combined with the System's 60+ 
years of provid ing high-qual ity workforce and industry sector training for 
businesses, employees and job seekers in  the Commonwealth , wil l ensure 
that g raduates of the train ing programs wil l  be able to access career 
opportunities while also meeting and exceeding all the skil l expectations of 
the Commission and the casino operators .  

1 7  



b .  The System's Qualifications as a Training and Licensure Organ ization:  
The System has the longest h istory in  the Commonwealth as a provider of 
workforce and industry tra in ing of any organization in Massachusetts. The 
System's longevity and stabil ity bring a huge value to the training organization 
selected for the gaming industry in Massachusetts. Community col leges in 
the state have a long history and currently provide l icensure for healthcare, 
information technology, hospitality, publ ic safety, trade and many other 
occupations that require documented and demonstrated skil ls and abi l ities, 
and the correspond ing knowledge. The Gaming Commission's approval of 
the System as the l icensure provider for the industry will ensure that the 
train ing received by those interested in working in l icensed occupations in the 
industry wi l l  be prepared when employed . Such training will a lso stand the 
test of time, and will provide for future career advancement in the industry. 

c. Creati ng Standard ized Ind ustry Certifications : General ly, there has been 
growing national conversations and movement toward standard ized industry 
certification and transportabi l ity of those certifications, starting with the 
USDOL SCANS Report in 1 991 . Since that time, organizations l ike the 
National Association of Manufacturers and over 24 states have adopted 
certifications that document individuals' skil ls and abil ities in the workplace. 
The System brings a tremendous advantage to the Commission ,  the potential 
gaming employees , and the casino operators, in that it is a statewide system. 
I .e .  train ing that takes place in any of the 3-4 casino training centers 
establ ished under this in itiative wi l l  provide a consistent core of skil ls tra in ing .  
Th is ensures that not only wi l l  each graduate have basel ine employabi l ity and 
work-related ski l ls but also that a graduate of any of the train ing centers wi l l  
be able to be l icensed to work in  any of the Massachusetts gaming faci l ities 
without further train ing.  

d .  A Collaborative Approach :  To fu lfi l l  a l l  of the human capital needs of the 
Massachusetts casinos, there must be a coord inated effort of all of the 
workforce system shareholders in the Commonwealth . Activities must include 
recruitment, screening, career advising , train ing (as necessary for l icensing 
and to meet min imal ski l l  levels in  al l  occupations), job placement, employee 
retention, and further education and train ing for career advancement. 
Because of its existing long-term relationsh ips with all of the workforce 
system shareholders in the Commonwealth and the stand ing regional 
Memorandums of Understanding with those workforce partners, the System is 
un iquely qual ified to coord inate the fu l l  array of organizations to meet the 
workforce needs of the gaming industry employees. Not only those 
Massachusetts residents entering into l icensed occupations, but also into al l  
other positions including support, cu l inary, hospital ity, office, management, 
customer service, etc. The Regional Workforce Coordinating Teams wil l  
meet with the selected casino operators to identify their h i ring needs and the 

1 8  



qual ifications of the positions, and wil l  develop a time l ine and processes that 
wil l ensure their needs are met. 

e .  Fi nancial Management: We assume that the Commonwealth , through the 
Gaming Commission, Department of Labor and Workforce Development, or 
other avenue, will ded icate funding for tra in ing unemployed and 
underemployed individuals for the gaming industry. This wil l  requ ire that the 
tra in ing organization provid ing the train ing will g ive assurance of appropriate 
accounting and management to the Commonwealth in order to guarantee 
appropriate use of public funds. All of the 1 5  commun ity colleges in  
Massachusetts have a long history of receiving and appropriately accounting 
for federal and state funds. The Ch ief Financial Officers of the commun ity 
col leges meet on a regular basis,  and are capable of developing a statewide 
accounting model that wi l l  ensure both consistent reg ional accounting for 
each of the training centers , and a statewide system that wi l l collapse the 
three regional accounts into a statewide account that the funding authority 
can audit. Further, the colleges have a long history of tracking and reporting 
data on non-cred it training to the Department of Higher Education. For th is 
in itiative, the System wi l l  work with the fund ing authority to identify the desired 
data elements on student participation ,  completion/graduation,  placement, 
retention,  and any other elements that need to be captured and reported , and 
will design regional and a comprehensive statewide reporting system. 

X I . Cas ino Operator Re lationsh i ps 

Representatives from the statewide and/or regional in itiatives have been meeting 
with potential casino operators to provide an orientation to the in itiative, and to 
inform the operators of the benefits of the in itiative to the casinos. Benefits include: 

• Time-savings by coordinated communications between the casino operators 
and the workforce system; 

• Development of an effective timeline for recruitment, screening,  
education/train ing,  and employment referral that wi l l  meet the casinos' human 
capital needs on time;  

• Access to a qual ified workforce; 
• Use of internationally recogn ized tra in ing curriculum for gaming-related 

occupations as well as accred ited curriculum in numerous non-gaming 
occupations, e.g. hospital ity management, cul inary, information technology 
and security, criminal justice , accounting and many more. While the training 
curricu lum wil l set a standard it also wi l l allow for flexibi l ity reflecting the 
needs of individual casino operators; 

• The opportun ity to have the casinos' employees become certified tra iners and 
to participate in  the train ing of the future gaming employees; 

• The opportun ity to have add itional un ique training topics infused into the core 
curriculum, thus saving employee post-hire orientation time; and , 

19 



• Long-term educational and training relationsh ips to prepare employees for 
career advancement 

Feedback from the potentia l operators that have met with System representatives 
has been extremely positive. It is our goal to have the Gaming Commission , in 
recogn ition of these benefits and benefits to the Commonwealth and its residents, 
approve the System as the training arm for train ing of l icensed gaming positions. I n  
col laboration with the Commission, the System wi l l  work with the potential casino 
operators to develop Memoranda of Agreement that the casinos wil l  agree to one or 
more of the fol lowing: 

• To adopt the System as its l icensed position train ing partner: 
• To provide space for a train ing center if possible: 
• To provide equipment necessary for hands-on train ing;  
• Participate in the development of an inventory of positions and qual ifications 

for their casinos; 
• Participate in the screen ing p rocess: 
• Refer appropriate employees to become trained as certified trainers in  the 

ACCC curriculum and to participate as trainers in the train ing centers ; 
• I n  collaboration with the System establish formal Career Pathways for their 

employees ; and , 
• To assist in  the review and final development of Education and Training 

Pathways that are al igned to the casinos' Career Pathways, and to provide 
tuition assistance to employees to participate in the Pathways. 

It is important to note that one or more un ions wi l l  be associated with the 
construction and the operation of the casinos. The colleges have experience 
providing education and train ing services in un ion environments. In deed the most 
effective training environment is one in wh ich collaboration with management and 
the un ion(s) is emphasized . What we have overwhelmingly found in such situations 
is that both management and unions have welcomed involvement of the commun ity 
colleges al ike .  There are two very important reasons for th is: 

• As a th i rd party the colleges are not influenced by the unions or by 
management. Therefore any findings and recommendations for processes 
and train ing are those that wi l l  be in the best interest of al l  parties, 
specifically those seeking the train ing;  and , 

• The colleges' recommendations wil l  be based on interactions with 
management and unions,  thereby gain ing information and objectives from 
both parties. The un ions, in  particu lar, appreciate the fact that their 
members are part of any final recommendations from the col leges. 

20 



The Massach usetts Casino Careers Training Institute 
Draft Diversity Plan - October 26, 201 2 

Consistent with the mission and values of the State's commun ity col leges and the 
workforce development system the Massachusetts Casino Careers Train ing Institute 
has adopted this d iversity plan i n  order to reflect one of the primary purposes of the 
casino gaming legislation,  i .e .  scal ing up a qual ified and d iverse workforce for this 
new to Massachusetts industry. 

1 )  Applicant, Ed ucation and Train ing,  and Placement Diversity Data Collection : 
The Institute wi l l  design and uti l ize a Diversity Data Col lection and Tracking System 
that wil l  be regularly reviewed to ensure that outreach , recruitment, education and 
train ing,  and placement activities are attracting and serving a d iverse popu lation .  
The Lead Commun ity Col lege i n  each reg ion wi l l  compile its reg ional data, which wil l  
be aggregated into a statewide database by the Institute. If ,  upon review, it is found 
that certain segments of the popu lation require more intense outreach , the 
leadership of the Institute wi l l  work with its partners to design an appropriate plan 
and launch new activities to resolve any deficiencies. The I nstitute wil l  share its 
d iversity data with the Massachusetts Gaming Commission as requested . 

2) Outreach & Recruitment: The Institute is committed to being proactive in  its 
development of appropriate outreach and recruitment communications that wi l l  
effectively and appropriately outreach to al l  members of  the Commonwealth . One 
important benefit of the System and its partners is that they al l  have decades of 
experience working with a d iverse population ,  providing services, skil ls assessment, 
career counsel ing, education and train ing,  and job placement. Programs and 
projects developed by the System and thei r  partners have achieved national and 
statewide recognition not only for their abil ity to successful ly meet or exceed al l  
expected outcomes, but a lso for their abi l ity to provide services to participants 
whose diversity reflects the composition of the communities served . 

The I nstitute's partners have developed solid relationships with many commun ity
based organizations, agencies serving specific segments of the communities, 
churches, and l ibraries that will ensure that a d iverse workforce is recruited for 
casino industry train ing and occupations.  We wil l employ those relationships in  our 
outreach and recruitment efforts to ensure utmost exposure to members of the 
communities . In add ition we wil l  access n iche-marketing avenues that cater to 
various segments of the community in  order to assure fu l l  exposure for recru itment. 
Targeted outreach and recruitment activities may include: 

• Trade and vocational schools that special ize in  providing training and 
assistance to economical ly d isadvantaged persons to help attain  our d iversity 
goals . 

• Niche publ ications that reach out to a broad spectrum of ethn icities to advertise 
opportun ities. 

2 1  



• Civic g roups and commun ity organizations that represent d iverse constituencies 
to help promote employment and training opportun ities . 

• Target radio stations to promote job fairs and employment centers. 
• Diverse local websites offering them an opportunity to l ink to the Institute's 

website. 
• Recruiting in d ifferent languages so that we do a responsible job of promoting 

the opportun ities to those persons who speak Engl ish as a second language. 
• Local organizations that train and help secure employment for seniors, veterans, 

and persons with d isabi l ities. 

In a study by the Public Sector Gaming Study Commission (PSGSC),  it was noted 
that in Tun ica County, Mississippi ,  the number of persons receiving Aid to 
Dependent Chi ldren payments was reduced by 67 percent and food stamp 
d istribution decreased 58 percent between 1 992 , when the first casino opened , and 
1 998. Accord ing to the study, in Atlantic C ity, New Jersey, 40 percent of gaming 
industry workers were female. 

Accord ingly, the I nstitute wil l  work with the Massachusetts Department of 
Transitional Assistance (DTA) to develop a targeted outreach and recruitment 
campaign to recipients of Transitional Assistance for Famil ies with Dependent 
Chi ldren (TAFDC).  As of September 2012 ,  there are approximately 1 08,278 such 
recipients in Massachusetts. Many of the System's col leges and their partners have 
operated successfu l transition programs for TAFDC recip ients ,  so they are adept at 
serving this popu lation with programs and services that lead to self-sufficiency. We 
anticipate that gaming industry employment wil l  provide the Commonwealth's 
TAFDC recipients the abil ity to transition off publ ic assistance. 

3) Education and Skill Gap Safety Net: Too often ,  d iverse members of our 
commun ity have barriers that wi l l  inhi�it their immediate qual ification to enter training 
and to be placed in gaming industry occupations. The strong community 
relationships developed by the System and its partners over the years provide a 
safety net to potential workers. Strong assessment, case management, and career 
advising , a particular expertise of the System and its partners ,  wil l  ensure that al l  
ind ividuals are aware of the occupational opportun ities in  the industry and any 
shortcomings they may have in in itially meeting the requ i rements of those positions. 
The Institute and its partners wil l  refer such ind ividuals to education and train ing 
programs that wil l  a llow any identified ski l ls or education gaps to be remedied 
through attainment of a GED, increased workplace ski l ls ,  and/or increased Engl ish 
commun ication skills that will meet the expectations of the casino operators, in  order 
for the workers to effectively perform the jobs. 

The selected casino operators wi l l  be instrumental in  helping to establ ish d iversity 
goals to meet any particular goals they may have establ ished in their Diversity Plans 
submitted to the Gaming Commission .  

22 



4) Diversity Training : To ensure that all employees in  the industry respect and 
embrace d iversity, the I nstitute will work with the casino operators to develop an 
Employee Diversity Training Program and a Diversity Tra in ing Program for 
Managers and Supervisors. Any casino train ing programs designed and offered 
through the Institute wi l l  include the Employee Diversity Training Program. 

23 



Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

MEMORANDUM 

Date: October 24, 2012 

To: Commissioners 

From: Enrique Zuniga 

Re: Reid-Kyl Bill for Regulation of On-Line Poker 

Recommendation: That the Gaming Commission authorize the chair of the commission to draft and 

issue communications on behalf of the Commission to the appropriate federal legislators or committees 

regarding regulatory developments for on-line poker in particular, and internet gaming in general. 

I have summarized certain considerations regarding recent developments in the regulatory arena of on

line poker and attached a draft of the current version of the Reid-Kyl bill, titled: "To prohibit Internet 

gambling, to regulate online poker, to provide consumer protections, and for other purposes" 

Backg r o u n d  

The enabling statute of the Commission, G . L. Chapter 23K, Section 4 § 3 6  states that 

The [Gaming] Commission shall have all powers necessary and convenient to carry out and effectuate its 

purposes ... including the power to . . .  [(36}] monitor any federal activity regarding internet gaming and 

coordinate with the office of the treasurer and receiver general on implementing any measures 

necessary to protect the commonwealth's lottery and gaming interest. " 

Reid- Kyl Bill  Reg u la ting In tern e t  Poker 

A bill titled "To prohibit Internet gambling, to regulate online poker, to provide consumer protections, 

and for other pu rposes," sponsored by Senate Majority Leader Harry Reid (D-NV) and Senator Jon Kyl ( R

AZ) is drafted (attached) and would effectively preclude all states with the exception of Nevada from 

conducting and regulating on-line poker. 



It is u nclea r how l i kely the bi l l  is to adva nce in the coming m o nths, given the u pcoming genera l  election, 

the lame d uck sessio n or the next U.S. Congress. It is a lso unclear how l ikely is the House of 

Represe ntatives to take such a measure (before or after the e lection), as it is not clea r whether there is a 

s imi lar  version of such a b i l l  in the House. 

While it is d ifficult to ascerta i n  the l ikelihood of those deve lopments, or the speed by which they could 

take p lace, it a ppears that the cu rrent Reid-Kyl bil l  as d rafted would significantly benefit the state of 

Nevada and the gam ing operators with presence there by p recluding a ny other states or operators 

without a presence in Nevada from cond ucting o n-line poker. The bi l l  would furthe r sign ificantly l imit 

the a bil ity of state lotteries from cond ucting a majo rity of lottery games on-li ne, rega rdless of whether 

those prod ucts were a pproved or would eventual ly be a pproved by state legislatures. 

The State Treasurer's Office has reached out to this Comm ission in an effo rt to com m u nicate a single 

message i n  opposition to this a p proach, given that both the ope rations of the lottery and the o perations 

of certa i n  casinos in the nascent casino la ndscape i n  M assach usetts could be eventual ly adversely 

i m pacted by this b i l l .  A d raft of a pote ntial com m u nication is attached. 



October 24, 2012 

Senator Harry Reid 
522 Hart Senate Office Bldg. 
Washington, DC 20510 

Senator Jon Kyl 
730 Hart Senate Building 
Washington, D.C. 20510 

Dear Senator Reid/Senator Kyl: 

We are writing on behalf of the Massachusetts State Lottery Commission (MSLC) 
and Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) to object in the strongest possible 
terms to the proposed 'Tnternet Gambling Prohibition, Poker Consumer Protection, 

and Strengthening UIGEA Act of 2012" ("Act") .  

Both of  our commissions have voted to vigorously oppose any attempt to  impose 
the Act's draconian federal limitations on the ability of states to control online 
gaming within their borders. The Commissioners believe this unwarranted and 
unjustified usurpation of authority will be harmful to the interests of the people of 
Massachusetts. 

Gaming historically has been subject to state regulation, and the Department of 
Justice in opinion released December 23, 2011 ("Whether Proposals by Illinois and 
New York to Use the Internet and Out-Of-State Transaction Processors to Sell 

Lottery Tickets to In-State Adults Violate the Wire Act") has extended that principle 
to online intrastate sales. 

The proposed Act would effectively limit participation in the online gaming 
marketplace to gaming operations with a presence in Nevada and sharply constrain 

the ability of state lotteries to offer online products. This would have a damaging 
effect on the Commonwealth of Massachusetts where casino gaming was authorized 
by the Legislature last year and the Massachusetts Lottery is the most successful in 
the nation as measured by per-capita sales. 





2 

MGC has begun the process of awarding the three casino and one slot parlor licenses 

approved by the Legislature. The Act would imperil that process by creating an 
unequal playing field for casino applicants. Those that have Nevada ties would have 
access to the online market while those who don't would compete at a disadvantage. 
Thousands of jobs and millions of dollars in licensing and tax revenues expected 
from casino gaming would be potentially undercut as a result. 

While the MSLC has made no decision to go forward with online products and 

Treasurer Grossman has vowed to protect the interests of the 7,400 businesses that 
sell Lottery products, it is studying the potential of the Internet marketplace for the 
future. The Lottery achieved record revenues ($4. 7 billion) and profits last year 
($982 million), helping provide significant unrestricted aid to the Commonwealth's 
cities and towns. The Lottery maintains a broad portfolio of draw games (such as 
MegaMillions, MassCash, and Lucky for Life), instant (scratch) tickets, and Keno. The 
latter two are responsible for more than 85% of the Lottery's sales - yet those are 
precisely the products that would be banned from being offered online by the Act. 

We are particularly puzzled by the Act's choice of Internet poker as the sole form of 
online gaming to be allowed other than Lottery games with no more than one 
drawing per day. It is well understood in the gaming industry that the profit margins 
on Internet poker are minimal. It is equally well understood in the Internet 
commerce world that attempts to wish the online gaming genie back into the bottle 
are doomed to fail. 

There is no business case for such a limitation. Accordingly, we can only assume that 
that the Act is a blatant, unwarranted, and inappropriate attempt to secure first
mover advantage in the online gaming space for Nevada interests. 

We regard this as a grievous misuse of federal legislative authority, and we call upon 
you to withdraw the Act protect the interests of the people of Massachusetts and 
dozens of the states that would be adversely effected by your legislation. 

Sincerely, 

Steven Grossman 
Treasurer and Receiver General 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
Chairman 
Massachusetts State Lottery Commission 

Stephen Crosby 
Chairman 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 





Draft Internet poker bill favors Reid's home state 

By Steve Friess 

10/18/12 7:48 PM EDT 

The Internet gambling bill ready for introduction in the Senate gives Nevada a clear field for regulating 
the Web poker industry and to profit handsomely from that plumb job, according to draft legislation 
leaked to POLITICO. 

The measure - expected to drop during the lame-duck session - favors the home state of Senate 
Majority Leader Harry Reid. It says that to qualify to be a licensing body for federally sanctioned online 
poker, a state must have "demonstrated capabilities nilevant to the online poker environment." 

Only one state fits that description because only one has yet issued any Web poker licenses: Nevada. 

In addition, the legislation as written requires a cut of the 1 6  percent "poker activity fee" collected by the 
federal government to go to the state in which the poker site is licensed. 

"I don't know how Reid thinks he's  going to attract votes with a bill this self-serving," said a House 
staffer whose boss represents a state with both land-based casinos and lotteries. 

Reid's office did not respond to requests for comment. 

The broad strokes of the bill - a ban on all other forms of Internet gambling with a poker carve-out and a 
very limited exception for state lotteries - are in line with a summary of expected legislation that 
surfaced last month. As that document outlined, the Internet Gambling Prohibition, Poker Consumer 
Protection, and Strengthening UIGEA Act of20 1 2  would create an Office of Online Poker Oversight 
within the Department of Commerce with an appointed executive director with sweeping powers over 
who gets licensed. 

The legislation is a compromise between Reid and retiring Sen. Jon Kyl (R-Ariz.), which is why its 
chances diminish dramatically if it doesn't pass before the next Congress. Kyl, like most socially 
conservative Republicans in the Senate, has long been a staunch opponent of lntemet gambling in any 
form but is working with Reid to head off an explosion of Web gambling across the nation that wouldn't 
be limited to poker. 

Reid, too, shares that fear now that the Department of Justice reinterpreted the Interstate Wire Act, 
concluding it only prohibits betting online on sports. Prior to that, the 1 9 6 1  law had been seen as 
prohibiting all forms of betting online except horse-racing. 

In the wake of that, more than a dozen state legislatures began mulling their own versions of legalized 
Web gambling. Delaware, for instance, will allow the sale of lottery tickets and video versions of various 
casino table games for residents early in 20 1 3 ,  and others such as I llinois, New Jersey, Nevada, 
Minnesota and California are looking at variations. 

The bill as written would prohibit Delaware' s  plans, which passed in June. The cut-off date for 
grandfathering in any state-level online gaming law would be May 1 ,  20 12 .  The Delaware Legislature 
approved their bill in June. 



Most of the large casino companies, represented by the American Gaming Association, want Congress to 
ban betting on games of chance online but leave a carve-out for online poker which, they argue, is a game 
of skill. 

In addition to gaming regulators in other jurisdictions who will want to issue licenses, opposition to the 
measure will be fierce from operators of state lotteries. The Reid-Kyl measure would only a1low the sale 
of lottery tickets for games with one daily draw, eliminating several games that occur more frequently 
across the nation. It also would require any winners who buy their tickets online to print their tickets and 
bring them to a retail location for their prizes. 

"The lotteries find themselves today at a point where they need to attract younger players because their 
player base is aging," said attorney Mark Hichar, outside counsel for lottery technology firm GTech. "By 
not a1lowing them to use the interactivity to which the Internet is uniquely suited, you make that 
extremely difficult." 

Many observers have noted that the chances that the bill will pass both houses of Congress are slim. Reid 
has declared it "the most important issue facing Nevada since Yucca Mountain" because the brick-and
mortar gaming industry fears that the vast spread of online gambling for the whole range of casino games 
could harm its businesses. 

Yet one significant opponent is Las Vegas Sands CEO Sheldon Adelson, who has spent millions on 
behalf of Republican candidates this year and fears any form of online gaming would lead to abuse by 
underage players. Adelson is close with House Majority Leader Eric Cantor (R-Va.), so it is seen as 
unlikely Cantor will move the bill forward even if Reid and Kyl vote it out of the Senate. 


